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SYNERGETICS USA, INC.

PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Synergetics USA, Inc. (“Synergetics USA” or “the Company”) is a leading supplier of precision surgical devices.  The
Company’s primary focus is on the surgical disciplines of ophthalmology and neurosurgery. Our distribution channels
include a combination of direct and independent distributor sales organizations, both domestically and internationally,
and important strategic alliances with market leaders. The Company’s product lines focus upon precision engineered
disposable and reusable devices, surgical equipment, surgical procedural kits and the delivery of various energy
modalities for the performance of surgery, including: (i) laser energy, (ii) ultrasonic energy, (iii) radio frequency
energy for electrosurgery and lesion generation and (iv) visible light energy for illumination, and (v) where applicable,
simultaneous infusion (irrigation) of fluids into the operative field. Enterprise-wide sales information is included in
Note 18 to the audited consolidated financial statements filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company is a Delaware corporation incorporated on June 2, 2005, in connection with the reverse merger of
Synergetics, Inc. (“Synergetics”) and Valley Forge Scientific Corp. (“Valley Forge”) and the subsequent reincorporation
of Valley Forge (the predecessor to Synergetics USA) in Delaware.  Synergetics was founded in 1991. Valley Forge
was incorporated in 1980 and became a publicly-held company in November 1989.  The Company’s securities are
listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the ticker symbol “SURG.”

Recent Business Developments

We expect that several developments over the past few years will contribute to the growth of our business in the
foreseeable future.

On July 9, 2013, the Company announced that it acquired M.I.S.S. Ophthalmics Limited (“M.I.S.S.”), a private
ophthalmology distribution company incorporated in England and Wales, for net cash consideration of $2.8 million.

On October 1, 2013, the Company announced plans to close its King of Prussia, Pennsylvania facility and consolidate
the manufacturing operations into its existing facility in O’Fallon, Missouri.  The Company expended approximately
$1.4 million, of which $719,000 and $682,000 was expended during fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively.  We
concluded manufacturing at the facility in February 2015.  The Company expects to reduce operating expenses by
more than $1.1 million annually, beginning in fiscal 2016 as a result of the closure.

On May 3, 2014, the Company acquired a private, original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) company incorporated in
the United States for net cash consideration of $1.4 million.

On May 5, 2014, the Company announced the launch of the next generation DirectionalTM Laser Probe.  The
DirectionalTM II Laser Probe is a significant improvement as compared to the original DirectionalTM Laser Probe as it
incorporates years of feedback from surgeons on the original design.  The improvements include an ergonomic,
color-coded handle that emulates our PinnacleTM instrument line and significant enhancements to the mechanism
responsible for adjusting the fiber from a straight to curved position.

On May 12, 2014, the Company announced the completion of a cooperative development agreement with Cleveland
Clinic to develop the next generation of intraoperative devices.  These devices are expected to lead to improved
visualization of surgical sites leading to more precise tissue targeting and improved surgical outcomes.
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On June 9, 2014, the Company announced the targeted launch of the next generation vitrectomy system, VersaVIT
2.0TM, in the second-half of June 2014.  VersaVIT 2.0TM offers an improvement over the first generation system by
providing high speed cutting in combination with active duty cycle control. Combined, both high speed cutting and
duty cycle control provide surgeons with a more efficient way to remove vitreous while simultaneously increasing
safety by decreasing traction on retinal tissues when shaving along the base of the retina. Additional features of the
VersaVIT 2.0™ system and accessories include LED illumination, pressurized infusion and a silicone oil collection
chamber.
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On December 10, 2014, the Company acquired Sterimedix Limited (“Sterimedix”), a private manufacturing company
incorporated in England and Wales, for net cash consideration of $13.2 million (the “Sterimedix Acquisition”). 
Sterimedix manufactures and supplies cannulas for ophthalmic and non-surgical aesthetics procedures.  Sterimedix
generated total revenue of approximately $7.9 million during its fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 and was solidly
profitable on an operating basis.  In connection with the Sterimedix Acquisition, the Company and Sterimedix entered
into the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 10, 2014 (the “Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement”).  In addition to
the cash consideration, the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement provides for potential gross profit margin earn-outs
through December 31, 2017.

Pursuant to the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement, the Company has agreed not to transfer the Sterimedix shares for a
period of one year and has also agreed after the one-year period, (i) to negotiate in good faith the assumption of the
earn-out payments with the proposed transferee; (ii) at the discretion of the Company, to make modified earn-out
payments to the former Sterimedix owners as set forth  in the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement and transfer certain
Sterimedix assets to the former owners upon arms’ length negotiations; or (iii) if option (i) does not occur and option
(ii) is not exercised, to remain obligated to pay the earn-out payments.

On December 16, 2014, the Company executed an amendment to the agreements with DePuy Synthes Products, LLC,
successor to Codman & Shurtleff, Inc. (“Codman”), effective as of December 9, 2014.  This amendment extends the
terms of the agreements until December 31, 2015.  All other provisions of such agreements remain unchanged.

On December 16, 2014, the Company entered into a restated loan and security agreement to secure an additional $13.0
million term loan facility to finance the earn-out payments due under the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement and to
provide additional sources of financing for the Company.

On July 16, 2015, the Company executed an early renewal of the supply agreement with Stryker Corporation
(“Stryker”).  The supply agreement calls for the Company to supply Stryker with disposable ultrasonic aspirator
instrument tips and certain other consumable products used in conjunction with Stryker’s ultrasonic aspirator console
and handpieces through March 31, 2019.

Recent Transaction

On September 1, 2015, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with
Valeant Pharmaceuticals International (“Valeant”) and Blue Subsidiary Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of Valeant
(“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which, among other things, on September 16, 2015, Merger Sub commenced a tender offer
(the “Offer”) for all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company at the following price, each without
interest thereon and subject to any applicable tax withholding: (i) $6.50 per share, net to the holder in cash (the “Cash
Consideration”), plus (ii) one non-transferable contractual contingent value right per share (each, a “CVR”), which
represents the right to receive up to two contingent payments (the “Contingent Consideration Payments”), if any, of up
to $1.00 in the aggregate net to the holder in cash (together, the “Offer Price”) upon the achievement of certain specified
milestones within an agreed upon time period, at the times and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Contingent Value Rights Agreement described below.

As soon as commercially practicable following the completion of the Offer and satisfaction or waiver of the remaining
applicable conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (the
“Merger”), with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Valeant (the “Surviving Corporation”). The
Merger will be governed by Section 251(h) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and effected
without a vote of the Company’s stockholders. At the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share of
common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than any shares held in the
treasury of the Company, shares owned by Merger Sub, Valeant or any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Valeant, which will be canceled without any conversion thereof and no payment or distribution will be made with
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respect thereto, and shares of common stock owned by stockholders who have properly exercised any available rights
of appraisal under Section 262 of the DGCL), if any, will be canceled and will be converted automatically into the
right to receive an amount per share equal to the Offer Price (the “Merger Consideration”).
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In addition, in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, each option to purchase
shares of common stock and each share of restricted common stock (“Restricted Share”) that is outstanding immediately
prior to the effective time of the Merger will become fully vested as of the Effective Time. At the Effective Time, all
outstanding options will be cancelled, and the holders of such options will receive at, or as soon as practicable
following, the effective time of the Merger, the following: (i) an amount of cash equal to (A) the total number of
shares of common stock subject to the option multiplied by (B) the excess, if any, of (x) the Cash Consideration over
(y) the applicable per-share exercise price of such option, and (ii) one CVR for each share of common stock
underlying such option, in each case without interest and subject to any applicable tax withholding. At the Effective
Time, all outstanding Restricted Shares will be cancelled, and the holders of such Restricted Shares will receive at, or
as soon as practicable following, the Effective Time, the following: (i) an amount of cash equal to the Cash
Consideration for each Restricted Share held by such holder, and (ii) one CVR for each Restricted Share held by such
holder, in each case without interest and subject to any applicable tax withholding.

The Merger Agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants by the respective parties. The
Company has agreed to operate its business in the ordinary course of business and is subject to customary operating
restrictions, until the earlier of the termination of the Merger Agreement or the consummation of the Merger as more
fully set forth in the Merger Agreement. The Company has also agreed not to solicit or initiate discussions with third
parties regarding other proposals to acquire the Company, subject to certain exceptions for the Company in connection
with the exercise of the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors of the Company. The Merger Agreement includes
certain termination provisions for both the Company and Valeant and provides that, in connection with the termination
of the Merger Agreement under certain specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay Valeant a
termination fee of $6.2 million.

Consummation of the Offer is subject to customary closing conditions, each as more fully described in the Merger
Agreement. In addition, it is also a condition to the consummation of the Offer that the number of shares of common
stock validly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the Offer, together with the shares of common stock, if any, then
owned by Valeant, Merger Sub or any of their respective subsidiaries, constitutes at least a majority of the total
number of outstanding shares of common stock on a fully diluted basis (which assumes conversion or exercise of all
derivative securities regardless of the conversion or exercise price, the vesting schedule or other terms and conditions
thereof) as of the expiration date of the Offer. Neither the Offer nor the Merger is subject to a financing condition.

In connection with the Offer, Valeant has entered into a Contingent Value Rights Agreement (the “CVR Agreement”)
with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as rights agent, governing the terms and conditions of the
Contingent Consideration Payments. Each CVR represents the right to receive contingent payments of up to $1.00 in
cash in the aggregate, without interest thereon and less any applicable withholding taxes, if the following milestones
(the “Contingent Consideration Milestones”) are achieved: (i) $0.50 per share in cash payable upon sales of the
Surviving Corporation’s Ophthalmology Products (as defined in the CVR Agreement) achieving $55.0 million during
any period of four consecutive calendar quarters during the period starting on the first day of the first calendar quarter
following the Effective Time through June 30, 2018 (the “Milestone Achievement Period”); and (ii) $0.50 per share in
cash payable upon sales of the Surviving Corporation’s Ophthalmology Products achieving $65.0 million over any
period of four consecutive calendar quarters during the Milestone Achievement Period (the “Milestone 2 Target”). If the
Milestone 2 Target is not achieved during the Milestone Achievement Period and net sales of Surviving Corporation’s
Ophthalmology Products during the four calendar quarter period ending on June 30, 2018 are more than $55.0 million
but less than $65.0 million, then Parent will pay an amount equal to (a) (i) net sales during the four calendar quarter
period ending June 30, 2018, minus $55.0 million, divided by (ii) $10.0 million, multiplied by (b) $0.50. The CVRs
are a contractual right only and will not be transferable, except in the limited circumstances specified in the CVR
Agreement. Revenues from sales of Ophthalmology Products were $39.2 million for the fiscal year ended July 31,
2015.

5
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The Offer is initially scheduled to expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on October 14, 2015, subject to
extension in certain circumstances as required or permitted by the Merger Agreement, the SEC or applicable law.

Summary of Financial Information

The following tables present net sales by category and our results of operations (dollars in thousands):

NET SALES BY CATEGORY

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2015 Mix 2014 Mix

Ophthalmic(1) $41,976 56.0 % $37,433 57.8 %
Neurosurgery(2) 31,694 42.2 % 26,844 41.4 %
Other (3) 1,349 1.8 % 492 0.8 %
Total $75,019 100.0% $64,769 100.0%

(1)
Net sales from Ophthalmic represent all sales of ophthalmic devices from direct sales representatives, distribution
partners and OEMs.  Recognition of deferred revenue of $1.3 million from Alcon, Inc. (“Alcon”) is included in this 
category for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

(2)

Net sales from Neurosurgery represent sales of electrosurgery generators, disposable bipolar forceps and related
accessories and royalties from Codman, multi-channel generators, disposable ultrasonic tips and related accessories
to Stryker and certain neurosurgery disposables sold through distribution.  Many of the products we sell to our
neurosurgery OEM customers are shipped to their non-U.S. customers in various countries around the world, but
are included in our domestic revenues.

(3)Other net sales represent all sales of aesthetic devices and other miscellaneous revenues.

The increase in sales during fiscal 2015 compared with fiscal 2014 was primarily due to a $4.8 million increase in
neurosurgery sales, a $4.5 million increase in ophthalmic sales and a $0.9 million increase in other sales.  Currently,
disposable product sales account for approximately 87.1 percent of our total product sales.  Overall sales of our
disposable products grew $9.0 million, or 15.6 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014. Sales of capital
equipment increased by approximately $1.3 million, or 17.5 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014.

Information with respect to the breakdown of revenue for domestic and international sales is included in Note 18 to
the audited consolidated financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
July 31,

Increase
 2015  2014  (Decrease)

Net Sales $75,019 $64,769 15.8 %
Gross Profit 40,217 36,229 11.0 %
Gross Profit Margin % 53.6 % 55.9 % (4.1 %)
Commercial Expenses
Research and Development 4,261 5,158 (17.4 %)
Sales and Marketing 15,367 14,360 7.0 %
General and Administrative 13,293 10,962 21.3 %
Exit costs 719 682 5.4 %
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Medical Device Excise Tax 487 486 0.2 %
Operating Income 6,090 4,581 32.9 %
Operating Margin 8.1 % 7.1 % 14.1 %
EBITDA(1) 8,954 6,629 35.1 %
Net Income 4,478 3,063 46.1 %
Earnings per share 0.18 0.12 50.0 %
Operating Return on Average Equity (1) 6.7 % 4.9 % 36.7 %
Operating Return on Average Assets (1) 5.1 % 3.7 % 37.8 %

(1)

EBITDA, operating return on average equity and operating return on average assets are not financial measures
recognized by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).  EBITDA is defined as net income before
interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.  Operating return on average equity is defined as net
income divided by average equity.  Operating return on average assets is defined as net income plus interest
expense divided by average assets.  See disclosure following regarding the use of non-GAAP financial measures.
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Fiscal Year Ended
July 31,
(dollars in
thousands)

EBITDA Calculation: 2015 2014
Net Income $4,478 $3,063
Interest Expense 82 19
Income Taxes 1,541 1,498
Depreciation 1,621 1,173
Amortization 1,232 876
EBITDA $8,954 $6,629
Operating Return on Average Equity Calculation:
Net Income $4,478 $3,063
Average Equity
July 31, 2015 $68,442
July 31, 2014 64,424 $64,424
July 31, 2013 60,152
Average Equity $66,433 $62,288
Operating Return on Average Equity 6.7 % 4.9 %
Operating Return on Average Assets Calculation:
Net Income $4,478 $3,063
Interest Expense 82 19
Net Income + Interest Expense $4,560 $3,082
Average Assets:
July 31, 2015 $95,621
July 31, 2014 84,715 $84,715
July 31, 2013 82,693
Average Assets $90,168 $83,704
Operating Return on Average Assets: 5.1 % 3.7 %

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We measure our performance primarily through our operating profit.  In addition to our audited consolidated financial
statements presented in accordance with GAAP, management uses certain non-GAAP measures, including EBITDA,
operating return on average equity and operating return on average assets to measure our operating performance.  We
provide a definition of the components of these measurements and reconciliation to the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measure.

These non-GAAP measures are presented to enhance an understanding of our operating results and are not intended to
represent cash flow or results of operations.  The use of these non-GAAP measures provides an indication of our
ability to service debt and measure operating performance.  We believe these non-GAAP measures are useful in
evaluating our operating performance compared to other companies in our industry, and are beneficial to investors,
potential investors and other key stakeholders, including creditors who use this measure in their evaluation of
performance.
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These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with, or an alternative to, measures prepared in accordance with
GAAP and may be different from non-GAAP measures used by other companies.  In addition, these non-GAAP
measures are not based on any comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles.  Non-GAAP measures have
limitations in that they do not reflect all of the amounts associated with the Company’s results of operations as
determined in accordance with GAAP.  These measures should only be used to evaluate our results of operations in
conjunction with the corresponding GAAP measures.

Our Business Strategy

The Company’s strategy is to enhance shareholder value through profitable revenue growth in targeted segments of the
ophthalmology and neurosurgery markets. This is accomplished through the identification and development of
reusable and disposable devices in collaboration with leading surgeons and OEM partners. We are committed to
establishing a strong operational infrastructure and financial foundation within which growth opportunities can be
prudently evaluated, financed and pursued. We will remain vigilant and sensitive to new challenges which may arise
from changes in the definition and delivery of appropriate healthcare in our fields of interest. In fiscal 2016 and
beyond, our strategic priorities are to drive accelerating growth in the ophthalmology business, deliver improved
profitability through our enterprise-wide continuous improvement initiatives, manage our neurosurgery and other
OEM businesses for stable growth and strong cash flows, demonstrate consistent, solid financial performance and
continued growth through strategic acquisitions.

Drive Accelerating Growth in our Ophthalmology Business

We are focused on expanding our product platform into larger and faster-growing segments of the vitreoretinal device
market. Thus, we have focused our internal research and development (“R&D”) efforts on developing innovative
technologies that will enable the Company to enhance its value to the vitreoretinal community. We are implementing
several focused initiatives to leverage our recent introduction of VersaVIT 2.0TM and other new products to capitalize
on the current macroeconomic environment. In addition, we are also seeking business development opportunities to
augment and complement our existing ophthalmic franchise.  Finally, we are improving our sales force productivity.
For example, in the U.S., we are focused on enhancing our compensation programs to target the appropriate mix of
product. Also, we are focused on the rigorous enhancement of our sales force capabilities through enhanced training
and customer relationship management. In the international markets, we are working to optimize our sales capabilities
and distribution infrastructure.  Our recent acquisition of M.I.S.S. demonstrates our commitment to enhancing our
international distribution infrastructure.

Deliver Improved Profitability through our Enterprise-Wide Continuous Improvement Initiatives

We have developed comprehensive enterprise-wide continuous improvement initiatives aimed at creating a more
efficient operating platform. We implemented our Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system in August 2011 which
brought us accurate, timely information to more effectively manage our cost savings initiatives.  Prior to fiscal 2015,
we believe we have taken over $3.1 million out of our cost basis since we implemented our cost savings efforts. 
Through reducing our scrap, using our labor force more efficiently and concentrating our efforts on less costly
components, we believe we have saved another $1.0 million in expenses in fiscal 2015.  Also, in February 2015, we
completed our efforts to consolidate our manufacturing operations in O’Fallon, Missouri.  We believe these efforts will
result in more than $1.1 million in operating savings on an annualized basis beginning in fiscal 2016.

Manage our Neurosurgery and OEM Businesses for Stable Growth and Strong Cash Flows

We have long-term relationships established with our two largest OEM partners, Codman and Stryker. These
relationships provide our products with high visibility in the neurosurgery and pain control markets. We provide
best-in-class technologies with our electrosurgical generators and disposable bipolar forceps distributed by Codman
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with both of these OEM partners to provide product line iterations to maintain their technological advantages. We also
work with a select number of other potential OEM customers to develop relationships to support our strategic goal.
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Demonstrate Consistent, Solid Financial Performance

In the short and long-term, we expect to grow our revenues and increase our profitability. We also will enhance our
working capital by employing both our enterprise-wide continuous improvement initiatives and our ERP system to
derive more free cash flow from the business. We will prudently manage our capital structure to allow for additional
growth opportunities and optimal cash deployment.

Continued Growth through Strategic Acquisitions

We believe that we can generate substantial revenue and cost synergies through strategic acquisitions and have a
history of successfully acquiring companies that expand our footprint, either geographically or in market sectors that
are complementary to our existing operations.  We intend to continue to grow our business and enhance our product
offerings through acquisitions that either complement our existing products or provide additional resources or
products that will enrich and increase our customer relationships.  We regularly consider and enter into discussions
regarding potential acquisitions. Any such transaction would be subject to negotiation of mutually agreeable terms and
conditions; receipt of fairness opinions (if required) and approval of the parties’ respective boards of directors and
shareholder(s) (if required); could be effected quickly; could occur at any time; and could be significant in size
relative to our existing assets or operations.  Our recent acquisition of Sterimedix demonstrates our commitment to
enhancing our ophthalmic market footprint.

Research and Development Strategy

Our R&D strategy primarily focuses on developing new products in collaboration with leading retinal surgeons and
our OEM partners utilizing our proprietary technology and our expertise in vitreoretinal surgery and neurosurgery. 
We are continually engineering new products, systems and instrumentation, as well as enhancements to existing
products, to meet the needs of surgeons in the ophthalmology and neurosurgery disciplines.  We have entered into
consultation arrangements with leading ophthalmic surgeons, all of whom specialize in vitreoretinal procedures.  In
neurosurgery, we have worked closely with our OEM partners to develop ultrasonic aspirator tips and other handheld
devices.

The Company has historically invested in specific R&D projects.  In fiscal 2015, we spent approximately 80 percent
of our R&D expenditures on ophthalmic opportunities and 20 percent on neurosurgery and other OEM opportunities.

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 2013

R&D expenditures (in thousands) $4,261 $5,158 $3,643
Percentage of net sales 5.7 % 8.0 % 5.8 %

We anticipate ongoing R&D costs in connection with the development of our products.  The Company’s R&D
resources include:  an advanced technology group that works on longer-term, highly complex R&D initiatives and a
device development group that works on strategically targeted products.  The alignment of our R&D resources into
these groups allows us greater flexibility to meet the ever-changing needs of our customers as well as allow the
Company to focus on those products and technologies that fit within our strategic plan.

At July 31, 2015, the Company’s development pipeline included 23 active projects in various stages of completion. 
The Company completed its most recent top priority ophthalmology R&D project when it introduced the enhanced
VersaVIT 2.0TM vitrectomy machine for use in vitreoretinal procedures at the end of fiscal 2014. The launch of this
product strengthens the Company’s position in the estimated annual $462 million vitrectomy machine and $299 million
related procedural pack markets. We have begun development work on several of the larger active projects in the
pipeline, which we believe will drive future growth in both our ophthalmic and neurosurgery businesses.  In fiscal
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The Company expects to invest in R&D at a rate of approximately 6 to 8 percent of net sales each fiscal year.  The
majority of our R&D is conducted internally.  In fiscal 2016, we expect to fund all of our R&D projects with current
assets and cash flows from operations.  We continuously review our R&D initiatives to ensure they remain consistent
with and supportive of our strategic growth initiatives.

Marketing

Ophthalmic/Vitreoretinal

Markets

Vitreoretinal surgery refers to any surgical procedures involving the posterior portion of the eye, also commonly
referred to as “the back of the eye.” Conditions associated with vitreoretinal surgery often require surgical treatment to
prevent vision loss. These conditions include proliferative diabetic retinopathy, retinal detachments and tears, macular
holes, macular puckers, vitreous hemorrhages and traumatic eye injuries as well as other diseases. The retinal surgeon
requires a variety of devices and equipment to perform the surgery, such as a vitrectomy machine and vitrector to
remove the vitreous from the eye, a light source and endoilluminator to illuminate the eye and a laser and endolaser
probe, which provides focused photocoagulation for the treatment of diabetic retinopathy and related conditions.

Based upon a study performed by Market Scope LLC (“Market Scope”), dated March 2015, there are 2,252 practicing
retinal specialists in the United States and an additional 8,889 throughout the rest of the world. It is estimated that
approximately 345,000 vitrectomies will be performed in the United States, and 1.527 million total vitrectomies will
be performed throughout the world in 2015.  Market Scope estimates that these procedures are growing 3.2 percent
annually.

Our business continues to grow and evolve as market conditions change. Due to the changing needs of the retina
community, the Company designed an enhanced version of VersaVIT 2.0TM vitrectomy machine and vitrectomy
packs to provide surgeons with a vitrectomy platform that is efficient, versatile, portable, space-saving and cost
effective.  The Company will continue to focus on market needs and market changes to provide surgeons with
products that meet their needs.

The global market for ophthalmic surgical instruments is estimated to be approximately $1.03 billion in 2015.  It is
estimated that approximately 37.6 million ophthalmic surgeries will be performed throughout the world in 2015. 
Market Scope estimates that these procedures are growing at a compound annual growth rate of approximately 4.0
percent.  Sterimedix participates in a portion of the disposable instrument segment of the approximately $367 million
ophthalmic surgical instruments market.  Market Scope estimates that the market for disposable instruments is
growing at a compound annual growth rate of 7.1 percent.  This growth is fueled by the 4 percent increase in global
ophthalmic surgery and the growing popularity of micro-incision surgery which creates additional opportunities in this
market segment.

Marketing and Sales Force

In the United States, we have assembled a direct, dedicated sales organization, consisting of 21 sales representatives,
nine field sales management/support persons and nine marketing professionals. In fiscal 2015, we expanded our
marketing team by one to enhance our global marketing efforts.  Our team sells vitreoretinal surgical products directly
to end-users at hospitals, ambulatory surgery centers and surgeon offices throughout the country. We offer over
approximately 1,000 separate catalogue items in the vitreoretinal surgical market, of which approximately 60% are
manufactured by or for Synergetics.  Our vitreoretinal products include a vitrectomy system under the VersaVIT
2.0TM brand, procedural packs under VersaPACKTM and Core EssentialsTM brands, fiberoptic endoilluminators and
endolaser probes, a variety of disposable and reusable devices designed for intraocular manipulation of tissues,
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illumination equipment under the PhotonTM brand, laser equipment for the United States market under Ellex’s
SolitaireTM brand, Volk’s line of ophthalmic lenses, Labtician’s scleral buckles and other miscellaneous products.

Internationally, we utilize a hybrid sales network comprised of direct and distributor sales. We have distribution
agreements with independent representatives to sell and distribute our ophthalmic surgical products. On July 8, 2013,
we acquired our United Kingdom distributor, M.I.S.S., which added five international employees.  At July 31, 2015,
we had 17 international direct sales and distribution employees and were represented by over 80 non-U.S. distributors
and independent sales representatives. Our vitreoretinal surgical products are offered for sale in approximately 60
countries outside the United States. The terms of sale to our non-U.S. distributors and our non-U.S. end-user
customers do not differ materially from those to our domestic end-user customers. Selling prices are established based
upon each country’s competitive pricing environment.
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Competition

Competition in the vitreoretinal market is intense and is expected to increase.  This market is characterized by
technological innovation and change.  We compete by providing products and services that are valued by our
customers such as:  sales relationships, product innovations, and responses to changing market/business needs.  See
Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Our ophthalmic surgical devices and equipment compete against manufacturers of similar products, including those
sold by our major competitors, Alcon, a subsidiary of Novartis Corporation, Bausch & Lomb, Inc., a subsidiary of
Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc., Dutch Ophthalmic Research Center and Iridex Corporation. In addition,
our products compete with smaller and larger specialized companies that do not otherwise focus on ophthalmic and
vitreoretinal surgery.

OEM Partners and OEM Markets

The Company has material OEM relationships with Codman and Stryker.

In the neurosurgical market, the bipolar electrosurgical system manufactured by Valley Forge prior to the merger has
been marketed for over 30 years through a series of distribution agreements with Codman. On April 2, 2009, the
Company executed a new, three-year distribution agreement (effective January 1, 2009) with Codman for the
continued distribution by Codman of the fourth generation electrosurgical generator, certain other electrosurgery
generators, related disposables and accessories. In addition, the Company entered into a three-year license agreement,
which provides for the continued licensing of the Company’s Malis® trademark to Codman for use with certain
Codman products, including those covered by the distribution agreement. In December 2010, Codman elected to
exercise its option of exclusive distribution with respect to the electrosurgical generators and related disposables and
accessories in the fields of neurocranial and neurospinal surgery.  On December 16, 2014, the Company executed an
amendment to the agreements, effective as of December 9, 2014.  This amendment extends the terms of the
agreements until December 31, 2015.  All other provisions of such agreements remain unchanged.

On November 16, 2009, the Company announced the signing of an addendum to its three-year agreement with
Codman. Under the terms of the revised agreement, Codman has the exclusive right to market and distribute the
Company’s SpetzlerTM-Malis® branded disposable bipolar forceps produced by Synergetics. Codman began
distribution of the disposable bipolar forceps in 2009, domestically, and in 2010, internationally.

The Codman relationship has been proceeding well and is meeting the Company’s expectations for unit and dollar
sales volumes. Sales to Codman in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 comprised 23.1 percent of the Company’s net
sales.

The Company supplies a multi-channel ablation generator used for minimally invasive pain control treatment to
Stryker pursuant to a supply and distribution agreement dated as of October 25, 2004, as amended.  The agreement
expired on June 30, 2015.  The agreement covered the manufacture and supply of the multi-channel ablation generator
unit together with certain accessories. The pain control generator can be utilized for facet denervation, rhizotomy,
percutaneous cordotomy, dorsal root entry zone lesions, peripheral neuralgia, trigeminal neuralgia and ramus
communications. Pain relief is achieved by the controlled heating of the area surrounding the electrode tip. A
thermosensor in the probe is used to control tissue temperature. Impedance values are displayed for the user to guard
against unsafe conditions. The system provides an electrical stimulator for nerve localization and various coagulating
outputs that are selectable based on the procedures undertaken. The pain control generator is designed to produce a
bipolar output to minimize current spread, although it can be operated in a monopolar mode as well. The agreement
also provided Stryker the right of first refusal for the distribution of other products for use in the field of percutaneous
treatment of pain or for use in other fields in conjunction with a generator product having the same features and
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On March 31, 2010, the Company entered into a supply agreement with Stryker pursuant to which the Company
agreed to supply Stryker with disposable ultrasonic aspirator instrument tips and certain other consumable products
used in conjunction with Stryker’s ultrasonic aspirator console and handpieces.  On July 16, 2015, the Company
executed an early renewal of the supply agreement with Stryker Corporation.  The agreement expires on March 31,
2019, subject to extension.

The Stryker relationship has been proceeding well and is meeting the Company’s expectations for unit and dollar sales
volumes. Sales to Stryker in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 comprised 18.0 percent of the Company’s net sales.

Markets

Neurosurgical procedures on a global basis continue to rise at an estimated 1 to 3 percent growth rate driven by an
aging global population, new technologies, advances in surgical techniques and a growing global market resulting
from ongoing improvements in healthcare delivery in emerging markets, among other factors. Based significantly
upon this growth in procedures, sales of neurosurgical products worldwide are forecasted to increase by approximately
4 percent.

Competition

In the field of neurosurgery, we design, develop and manufacture precision-engineered, surgical devices and
instruments. We believe we are the premier manufacturer of bipolar electrosurgical systems for use in neurosurgery.
Our neurosurgical bipolar electrosurgical systems and accessories, which are sold by Codman, compete against
similar products sold by the Valleylab division of Covidien Ltd., Kirwan Surgical Products, Inc., Erbe Elektromedizin
GmbH and the Aesculap division of B. Braun Medical Inc. The ultrasonic aspiration tips and accessories we supply to
Stryker compete against similar products sold by Integra Life Sciences Holdings, Corp., the manufacturer of the
CUSATM and the SelectorTM ultrasonic aspirator systems, and Misonix, Inc.  Additionally, the products we
manufacture compete with smaller and larger specialized companies. These products also compete with other
technologies, such as handheld instruments and a variety of tissue removal systems designed for removing skull-based
tumors.  See Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Operations

Manufacturing and Supplies

We design, manufacture and assemble the majority of our ophthalmic and direct neurosurgical products and certain
OEM products in our facility in O’Fallon, Missouri.  The SolitaireTM laser and the Volk lenses are purchased by the
Company from their respective manufacturers.  Our products are assembled from raw materials and components
supplied to us by third parties.  Most of the raw materials and components we use in the manufacture of our products
are available from more than one supplier.  For some components, there are relatively few alternate sources of supply. 
For a portion of our disposable product line and for several key components of our PhotonTM light sources, our
VersaVIT 2.0TM vitrectomy system and our electrosurgical generators, we rely upon single source suppliers or
contract manufacturers.

During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, we continued our improvement journey and have introduced all of our
manufacturing lines to a lean manufacturing methodology.  These manufacturing lines are at varying stages of
maturity with respect to implementing the continuous improvement methodology.  In fiscal 2016, we expect to
continue the implementation process.  In fiscal 2015, we have been able to increase our sales by approximately 7
percent without a significant increase in the manufacturing footprint.
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Government Regulations

Medical devices manufactured by the Company are subject to extensive regulation by governmental authorities,
including federal, state and non-U.S. governmental agencies.  The principal regulator in the United States is the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”).  The medical device regulatory scheme in the European Union is driven by the
Medical Device Directive.

FDA regulations are wide-ranging and govern the development, production and marketing of medical devices, the
observance of certain standards with respect to the design, manufacture, testing, labeling and promotion of devices,
the maintenance and retention of certain records, the tracking of devices in distribution, the reporting of potential
product defects and patient incidents, the export of devices and other matters.

All medical devices introduced into the market since May 28, 1976, which include all of our products, are required by
the FDA as a condition of sale and marketing to secure either a 510(k) Premarket Notification clearance or an
approved Premarket Approval Application (“PMA”) unless specifically exempted by regulation.  A Premarket
Notification clearance indicates FDA agreement with an applicant’s determination that the product for which clearance
has been sought is substantially equivalent to another medical device that was on the market before 1976 or that has
received 510(k) Premarket Notification clearance since that time.  The process of obtaining a Premarket Notification
clearance can take several months or potentially years and may require the submission of limited clinical data and
supporting information.  The PMA process typically requires the submission of significant quantities of clinical data
and manufacturing information and involves significant review costs.  The Company does not anticipate any of our
new devices in development at this time will require a PMA.

Under FDA regulations, after a device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its
safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change in the intended use of the device, technology,
materials or packaging, requires a new 510(k) clearance.  The FDA requires a manufacturer to make this
determination in the first instance, but the FDA can review any such decision.   If the FDA disagrees, it can require a
manufacturer to obtain a new 510(k) clearance or it can seek enforcement action against the manufacturer.

We are also required to register with the FDA as a device manufacturer and to maintain compliance with the FDA’s
Quality System Regulations (“QSR”).  The QSR incorporates the requirements of Good Manufacturing Practice as well
as other regulatory requirements of the FDA, which mandate detailed quality assurance and record-keeping
procedures and subject manufacturers to unscheduled periodic quality system inspections.  We conduct internal
quality assurance audits to ensure compliance throughout the manufacturing process.

We may not promote or advertise our products for uses not within the scope of our clearances or approvals or make
unsupported safety or effectiveness claims.  Further, we are required to comply with various FDA regulations for
labeling and promotion.  The Medical Device Reporting regulations require that we provide information to the FDA
whenever there is evidence to reasonably suggest that one of our devices may have caused or contributed to a death or
serious injury.  In addition, the FDA prohibits us from promoting a medical device before marketing clearance has
been received or promoting a cleared device for unapproved indications. Noncompliance with applicable regulatory
requirements can result in enforcement action, which is more fully described in Part 1, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” section
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Medical device regulations also are in effect in many of the countries outside the United States in which our products
are sold.  These laws range from comprehensive device approval and quality system requirements for some or all of
our medical device products to simpler requests for product data or certifications.  The number and scope of these
requirements are increasing.  In June 1998, the European Union Medical Device Directives became effective, and all
medical devices sold in the European Union must meet the Medical Device Directives standards. The Company sells
its products in the European medical device market; as such, we have voluntarily chosen to participate in audits
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established by the European Union through which we have obtained “CE marking” for many of our products.  The
Company is subjected to annual audits at our manufacturing facilities for compliance to the quality system standards
established by the International Standards Organization (“ISO”) and Medical Device Directives established by European
law.  The Company is certified to ISO 13485:2003, the international standard for quality systems as applied to
medical devices.  Failure to correct deficiencies discovered during an audit could result in the removal of the CE mark
on our products, which would effectively bar the sale of the Company’s products in the European market.  Such a
result would have a significant and material negative impact on the Company and its business.  In addition, there are
several countries outside the European Union which require additional complex regulatory clearances.
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Management believes that we are in material compliance with the government regulations governing our business in
the countries where we market our products.

Safety Approvals

The majority of our capital equipment products also require electrical safety testing, and in some cases
electromagnetic emission testing, either as a product registration requirement and/or to gain market acceptance. 
Testing to internationally recognized standards is provided by third party vendors, who certify our products’
compliance to these standards.  The primary standard to which our capital equipment must comply requires that we
provide detailed risk management documentation to support the electrical safety testing.

Intellectual Property

Our continuing technological innovations and superior engineering designs, as well as the goodwill associated with
our products, provide us with competitive advantages, many of which are proprietary to the Company.  We protect our
proprietary advantages, in large part, by obtaining legal rights in issued patents, the filing of patent applications,
maintaining trade secrets and confidential know how, and through the use of trademarks.

Patented and/or patent pending technology is used in most of our product lines, from our most recently released
surgical equipment, the VersaVIT 2.0TM vitrectomy system and its associated disposables, to our line of Directional
Laser ProbeTM devices, our DDMSTM membrane scrapers, our PhotonTM line of illumination technology with
complimentary accessories, and further, to the products we make for our OEM partners, such as our Malis® line of
bipolar electrosurgical generators, forceps and other accessories, as well as certain surgical ultrasonic aspiration tips. 
When deemed appropriate for our business success, we have chosen to and will continue to choose to enforce and
defend these patent rights.

We generally seek patent protection on those technological advancements that are believed to be patentable and are
planned or likely to be used in our products or product improvements.  Currently, the Company owns 132 unexpired
patents around the world, 40 of which have been issued in the United States.  Our oldest, unexpired patent was issued
in the United States approximately 17 years ago, in 1998.  Given the range of ages of the patents in our portfolio, we
expect that patent expiration will be a routine event going forward for some time.  We do not believe that the
expiration of any one patent, or the expiration over time of each of our currently unexpired patents, will have a
material, adverse effect on our business.  Furthermore, we manage our patent portfolio such that we will purge a
patent application or an issued patent from our portfolio when we determine that the offensive and defensive value of
such patent or application is outweighed by its costs of maintenance.

Through our R&D efforts, we are continually creating new intellectual property, and continue to file patent
applications around the world to protect our rights in these developments.  The Company has numerous, pending
patent applications in the United States and in other countries.  We believe that these patent applications will mature
into issued patents in due course; however, we also know that other legal rights, whether of other inventors or of the
public, ultimately may prevent our applications from issuing as patents.

We do not rely exclusively on our patents to provide us with intellectual property protections, but we also rely on
trade secrets, know-how, and trademarks.  In an effort to protect our trade secrets and know-how, we generally require
our employees, consultants, and advisors to enter into confidentiality agreements with us upon the commencement of
their respective relationships with us.  These confidentiality agreements typically provide that all confidential
information developed or disclosed by us during the course of the relationship must be kept confidential and cannot be
used except to further the purposes of the relationship.  To the extent that such confidential information is likely to
include inventions, our agreements with our employees, consultants, and advisors may also contain provisions
requiring these individuals to assign to us any inventions conceived or reduced to practice in the course of the

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

26



relationship.

14

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

27



Table of Contents
Regarding our trademarks, the Company relies on protections from both formal registrations and common law rights. 
Trademark registrations owned by the Company or one of its subsidiaries include Synergetics, Malis, the Malis
waveform logo, Bident and Barracuda.  Other trademarks used in association with the Company’s products include the
diamond logo, Vision for Life, VersaVIT, VersaPACK, Core Essentials, Bullseye, Corona, Diamond Black, DDMS,
Directional Laser Probe, Extendable Directional Laser Probe, Inverted Directional Laser Probe, FullView, I-Pack,
Kryoptonite, Maxillum, Microfiber, Microserrated, One-Step, Photon, Photon I, Photon II, P1, P2, Pinnacle,
Syntrifugal, Apex, Synerport, TruCurve, Vivid, Burst, Lumenator and TruMicro.  All other trademarks appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.

Backlog

As of July 31, 2015, our backlog was approximately $3.2 million, as compared to $2.2 million as of July 31, 2014. 
We expect that this backlog will be filled within the current fiscal year.

Employees

On July 31, 2015, we had 418 employees, of which the majority were full-time employees.  As part of our continuous
improvement philosophy, we currently utilize temporary staffing agencies to provide us with approximately 15
percent of our manufacturing staff in order to remain flexible.  Including the temporary staff and planned
replacements, our head count is approximately 439 employees.   From time to time, we retain temporary employees,
part-time employees, engineering consultants, scientists and other consultants.  All full-time employees are eligible to
participate in our health benefit plan.  None of our employees are represented by a union or covered by a collective
bargaining agreement.  We consider our relationship with our employees to be satisfactory.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information, as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, with respect to
the executive officers of the Company.

Name AgePosition(s) with the Company

David M. Hable 60 President, Chief Executive Officer & Director
Pamela G. Boone 52 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer & Secretary
Jason J. Stroisch 40 Vice President of Marketing and Technology
Michael R. Fanning 49 Vice President of Domestic Sales

David M. Hable joined the Company as its President, Chief Executive Officer and director in January 2009.  Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Hable served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Afferent Corporation, a venture
capital backed, medical device company focused on neuro stimulation therapies. Previously, he was Chairman of the
Board of ONI Medical Systems, Inc., a developer and marketer of magnetic resonance imaging equipment for
extremity applications in non-hospital settings. Mr. Hable also spent over 20 years with Codman, which develops and
markets a wide range of diagnostic and therapeutic products for the treatment of central nervous system disorders. Mr.
Hable was engaged at Codman in several sales and marketing positions.  From 1998 to 2003, Mr. Hable served as
Codman’s Worldwide President leading all functions in the company, both domestically and internationally. Mr. Hable
has overall responsibility for the management of the Company.

Pamela G. Boone joined the Company as its Chief Financial Officer in May 2005. Prior to this, Ms. Boone served as
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Maverick Tube Corporation (“Maverick”) from 2001 until January 2005
and as Vice President, Treasurer and acting Chief Financial Officer until May 2005. Maverick, a Missouri-based
company, was a leading North American producer of welded tubular steel products used in energy and industrial
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Company.
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Jason J. Stroisch joined the Company in the Engineering division in September 1995.  In his 20 years with the
Company, Mr. Stroisch has had increasing levels of responsibility within the organization, including International
Product Manager, International Sales Manager and Vice President of Ophthalmic Sales.  In April 2009, he was
promoted to Vice President of International Sales and Marketing.  In August 2012, oversight of our R&D efforts was
added to his responsibilities and he became Vice President of Marketing and Technology.  Mr. Stroisch coordinates
and supervises the marketing efforts of the Company and the scientific development of the Company’s products.

Michael R. Fanning joined the Company as a territory manager in June 2003.  He was promoted to National Sales
Manager in May 2006 and became Vice President of Domestic Sales in April 2009.  Prior to this, Mr. Fanning worked
for GE Capital for over ten years.  Mr. Fanning coordinates and supervises the domestic sales and customer service
operations of the Company.

Available Information

We make available free of charge our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished as required by Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), through our internet website at
www.synergeticsusa.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it
to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, provide a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by
or on behalf of the Company. The Company and its representatives may from time to time make written or oral
statements that are “forward-looking,” including statements contained in this report and other filings with the SEC and
in our reports and presentations to stockholders or potential stockholders. In some cases forward-looking statements
can be identified by words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “potential,” “continue” or similar expressions. Such
forward-looking statements include risks and uncertainties and there are important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors, risks
and uncertainties can be found in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Although we believe the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable
assumptions, it is not possible to foresee or identify all factors that could have a material effect on the future financial
performance of the Company. The forward-looking statements in this report are made on the basis of management’s
assumptions and analyses, as of the time the statements are made, in light of their experience and perception of
historical conditions, expected future developments and other factors believed to be appropriate under the
circumstances.

In addition, certain market data and other statistical information used throughout this report are based on independent
industry publications. Although we believe these sources to be reliable, we have not independently verified the
information and cannot guarantee the accuracy and completeness of such sources.

Except as otherwise required by the federal securities laws, we disclaim any obligation or undertaking to publicly
release any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and the information incorporated by reference in this report to reflect any change in our
expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any statement is
based.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have identified the following
risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.  You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision.

Risks related to our Pending Merger with Valeant

We will incur costs as a result of the Merger.

We will incur substantial expenses in connection with and as a result of completing the Merger.  While we have
assumed that a certain level of transaction expenses will be incurred, factors beyond our control could affect the total
amount or the timing of these expenses.  Many of the expenses that will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to
estimate accurately.

Our stockholders cannot be sure of the value of the Contingent Value Rights they will receive as a portion of the Offer
Price.

In connection with the Offer and Merger, each share of our common stock will receive one CVR per share, in addition
to the Cash Consideration. The CVR represents the right to receive up to two contingent payments, if any, of up to
$1.00 in the aggregate, net to the holder in cash, without interest thereon and less any applicable withholding taxes,
upon the achievement of the Contingent Consideration Milestones within the Milestone Achievement Period. We can
provide no assurance that these Contingent Consideration Milestones will be achieved within the Milestone
Achievement Period.
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Consummation of the Merger is subject to closing conditions, which, if not satisfied, may prevent, delay or jeopardize
the consummation of the Merger, and/or result in additional expenditures of money and resources

The Merger is subject to customary closing conditions. These closing conditions include, among others, the receipt of
validly tendered shares which, when added to shares already owned by Valeant, if any, represent a least a majority of
the total number of outstanding shares of the Company on a fully diluted basis. The closing conditions also included
the expiration or termination of the waiting period under the antitrust laws, which has been satisfied, and any other
required regulatory authorizations. No such regulatory authorizations were identified. We can provide no assurance
that all outstanding required closing conditions will be achieved. Further, no assurance can be given that the required
number of shares will be tendered or that the required closing conditions will be satisfied.

While the Merger is pending, we are subject to business uncertainties and restrictions that could adversely affect our
business.

Uncertainty about the effect of the Merger on employees, customers and suppliers may have an adverse effect on us. 
These uncertainties may impair our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel until the Merger is
consummated and for a period of time thereafter, and could cause customers, suppliers and others who deal with us to
seek to change existing business relationships with us.  Employee retention may be challenging during the pendency
of the Merger, as certain employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles.  If key employees depart
because of issues related to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to remain with the businesses,
the business of the combined company following the Merger could be seriously harmed.  In addition, the Merger
Agreement restricts us from taking specified actions until the Merger occurs without the consent of Valeant.  These
restrictions may prevent us from pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of
the Merger.

Our directors and officers may have interests in the Merger different from or in addition to the interests of our
stockholders.

Certain of our directors and executive officers negotiated the terms of the Merger Agreement, and our Board of
Directors approved the Merger Agreement and recommended that our stockholders accept the offer to purchase their
shares and tender their shares pursuant to the Offer.  These directors and executive officers may have interests in the
Merger that are different from, or in addition to, those of our stockholders generally.  These interests include, but are
not limited to, the treatment in the Merger Agreement of stock options and Restricted Shares, bonus awards, change of
control agreements and other rights held by our directors and/or executive officers, and provisions in the Merger
Agreement regarding continued indemnification of and advancement of expenses to our directors and officers.

The Merger Agreement contains provisions that restrict our ability to pursue alternatives to the Merger and, in
specified circumstances, could require us to pay Valeant a termination fee of up to $6.2 million.

Under the Merger Agreement, we are restricted, subject to certain exceptions, from:

·

soliciting, initiating, facilitating or encouraging (including by way of furnishing or providing access to non-public
information with the intent of encouraging the making, submission or announcement of a competing acquisition
proposal), any inquiries or proposals that constitute, or which would reasonably be expected to lead to, a competing
acquisition proposal;
·participating in any discussions or negotiations with any third party regarding any competing acquisition proposal;

·approving any transaction under, or any person (other than Valeant) becoming an “interested stockholder” under,Section 203 of the DGCL; or
·entering into any merger or other agreement, agreement in principle, letter of intent, term sheet, joint venture
agreement, partnership agreement or other similar instrument constituting or related to any competing acquisition

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

33



proposal.

18

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

34



Table of Contents
Under certain circumstances, we may terminate the Merger Agreement in order to enter into an agreement with
respect to a superior proposal, but we would be required to pay Valeant a termination fee of $6.2 million.   These
provisions could discourage a third party that may have an interest in acquiring all or a significant part of us from
considering or proposing that acquisition, even if such third party were prepared to enter into a transaction that would
be more favorable to us than the Merger, or might result in a third party proposing to pay a lower price than it might
otherwise have proposed to pay because of the added expense of the termination fee that may become payable.

Termination of the Merger Agreement could negatively affect us.

If the transaction is not consummated, the ongoing businesses of the Company may be adversely affected and, without
realizing any of the benefits of having consummated the transactions, we will be subject to a number of risks
including the following:

·We will be required to pay costs and expenses relating to the proposed transaction;

·The current price of our common stock may reflect a market assumption that the acquisition will occur, meaning thata failure to complete the transaction could result in a material decline in the price of our common stock;

·If the Merger Agreement is terminated under specified circumstances, we may be required to pay Valeant atermination fee of $6.2 million;

·
Matters relating to the transaction (including integration planning) may require substantial commitments of time and
resources by the Company’s management, which could otherwise have been devoted to other opportunities that may
have been beneficial to us;

·
A failed merger may result in negative publicity and/or give a negative impression of us in the investment community
or business community generally and could have an adverse effect on our on-going operations, including, but not
limited to, retaining and attracting employees, and reduced ability to sell our products; and

·We could be subject to litigation related to any failure to consummate the transaction or related to any enforcement
proceeding commenced against the Company to perform its obligations under the Merger Agreement.

We have been and may continue to be the target of securities class action suits and derivative suits which could result
in substantial costs and divert management attention and resources.

Securities class action suits and derivative suits are often brought against companies who have entered into mergers
and acquisition transactions.  Following the announcement of the execution of the Merger Agreement, four putative
stockholder class actions were filed challenging the proposed transaction. On October 2, 2015, the Company, each of
the members of the Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger Sub entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the
“MOU”) with the plaintiffs in the actions, which sets forth the parties’ agreement in principle for a settlement of the
actions on the basis of the additional disclosures made in a supplement to the Schedule 14D-9 filed by the Company
with the SEC on October 2, 2015. On October 8, 2015, the Delaware Court dismissed the class action filed in
Delaware, and the parties to that action will proceed as part of the Missouri actions. The claims will not be released
until such stipulation of settlement is approved by the court, and there can be no assurance that the parties will
ultimately enter into a stipulation of settlement or that the court will approve such settlement even if the parties were
to enter into such stipulation.   See Part 1, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings.”  Defending against these claims, even if
meritless, can result in substantial costs to us and could divert the attention of our management.
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Risks related to Our Business

The medical device industry is highly competitive and subject to technological change.  If our competitors are better
able to develop and market products that are safer, more effective, less costly, easier to use, or are otherwise more
attractive, we may be unable to compete effectively with other companies.

The medical device industry is characterized by intense competition and technology change.  We compete with
established medical technology companies and early stage companies that have alternative solutions for the markets
we serve or intend to serve.  Many of our competitors have several advantages over us; including:
·access to greater financial and human resources for product development, sales and marketing and patent litigation;
·greater name recognition;
· long established relationships with physicians and customers;
·additional lines of products and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer greater discounts or incentives;
·more established sales and marketing programs, and distribution networks; and

·greater experience in conducting R&D, manufacturing, preparing regulatory submissions and obtaining regulatoryclearance or approval for products and marketing approved products.

Our competitive position depends on multiple, complex factors, including our ability to achieve market acceptance for
our products, develop new products, implement production and marketing plans, secure regulatory approvals for
products under development and protect our intellectual property.  We may need to develop new applications for our
products to remain competitive.  Technological advances outside of our field, such as in pharmacology, by one or
more of our current or future competitors could render our present or future products obsolete or uneconomical.  Our
future success depends, among other things, upon our ability to compete effectively against current technology, as
well as to respond effectively to technological advances, and upon our ability to successfully implement our marketing
strategies and execute our R&D plan.

In addition, our VersaVIT 2.0TM is complex in design and the manufacturing involves a highly complex and precise
process.  As a result of the technical complexity, changes in our or our suppliers’ manufacturing processes or the
inadvertent use of defective materials by us or our suppliers could result in a material adverse effect on our ability to
achieve acceptable manufacturing yields and product reliability.  To the extent that we do not achieve such yields or
product reliability, our business, operating results, financial condition and customer relationships would be adversely
affected.

Our products may not be accepted in the market.

We cannot be certain that our current products or any other products we have or may develop or market will achieve
or maintain market acceptance.  We cannot be certain that our devices and the procedures they perform will be able to
replace established treatments or that physicians or the medical community in general will accept and utilize our
devices or any other medical products that we may develop.

Market acceptance of our products depends on many factors, including our ability to:

•convince key opinion leaders to provide recommendations regarding our products;
•convince distributors and customers that our technology is an attractive alternative to other technologies;

•price our products competitively in light of the current macroeconomic environment where healthcare systems andhealthcare operators are becoming increasingly price sensitive;
•manufacture products in sufficient quantities; and
•supply and service sufficient quantities of our products directly or through marketing alliances.
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If we do not introduce new commercially successful products in a timely manner, our products may become obsolete
over time, thereby decreasing our revenue and profitability.

Demand for our products may change as a result of evolving customer needs, the introduction of new products and
technologies, the discovery of cures for certain medical problems, including pharmacology technologies and
discoveries, evolving surgical practices and evolving industry standards.  Without the timely introduction of new
commercially successful products and enhancements, our products may become obsolete over time causing our sales
and operating results to suffer.  The success of our new products will depend on several factors, including our ability
to:

•properly identify and anticipate customer needs;
•obtain regulatory approval for new products;
•achieve positive clinical outcomes;
•commercialize new products in a cost-effective and timely manner;
•manufacture and deliver products in sufficient volumes on time;
•differentiate our products from those of our competitors;

•satisfy the increased demands by health care payers, providers and patients for lower-cost procedures and shorterhospital stays and recovery times;
•innovate and develop product designs and surgical techniques; and

•provide adequate medical and/or customer education relating to new products and attract key surgeons to advocatethese new products.

New products and enhancements usually require a substantial investment in R&D before we can determine the
viability of the product.  We currently have 23 active projects in the development pipeline. We spent approximately
5.7 percent of our sales on R&D during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, and we expect to spend 6 to 8 percent of
our sales for this purpose in future periods.  Our R&D process entails considerable uncertainty.  Moreover, new
products and enhancements may not produce revenues in excess of the R&D costs, and they may become obsolete by
changing customer preferences or the introduction by our competitors of new technologies or features.  Failure to
develop our manufacturing capability may mean that even if we develop promising new products, we may not be able
to produce them profitably, as a result of delays and additional capital investment costs.  Any failure in our ability to
successfully develop and introduce new products or enhanced versions of existing products could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results and would cause our net revenues to decline.

A significant part of our product sales comes from two customers, which makes us vulnerable to the loss of those
customers.

During the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, revenue from sales of our bipolar electrosurgical generators, disposable
bipolar forceps, cord tubing sets and royalty payments from Codman represented approximately 23.1 percent of the
Company’s total net sales.  Under our existing agreement with Codman, it distributes all contract products on an
exclusive basis and has exclusive rights to distribute all monopolar and bipolar generators for use in neurocranial and
neurospinal surgery.  The initial term of our existing agreement with Codman expired on December 31, 2011, after
which we entered into a single, automatic, three-year renewal term.  The agreement expires on December 31, 2016. 
We continue to enhance the contract products and to develop new additions to the disposable bipolar forceps line for
Codman which we expect will expand their reach to additional markets.

Revenue from the sales of our pain control generators, the ultrasonic aspirator tips and accessories sold by Stryker
accounted for 18.0 percent of the Company’s total net sales for fiscal 2015.  Under our existing agreements, Stryker
distributes the pain control generator and ultrasonic aspirator tips on an exclusive basis.  The pain control generator
agreement expired on June 30, 2015, and the ultrasonic aspirator tip agreement expires on March 31, 2019.  We will
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continue to supply Stryker with pain control generators in accordance with their approved and our accepted purchase
orders, but we cannot provide any assurance that the number of products supplied will be consistent with the volume
supplied under the expired supply agreement.

Increased concerns over the safety of our products may result in negative publicity or increased regulatory controls on
our products.

The Company’s reputation is the foundation of our relationships with physicians, patients and other customers.  If we
are unable to effectively manage real or perceived issues, which could negatively impact sentiments toward the
Company, our business could suffer.  Medical devices are perceived to be dangerous products and customers may
have a number of concerns about the safety of our products.  These concerns may be increased by negative publicity.
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We are also subject to adverse event reporting regulations that require us to report to the FDA or similar bodies in
other countries if our products are associated with a death, serious injury or malfunction, even if there is no available
evidence of a causal relationship between the adverse event and the product.  Such events may be publicly released by
the FDA and other authorities.  For instance, the FDA maintains a public database, known as the Manufacturer and
User Facility Device Experience (“MAUDE”) that posts reports of adverse events involving medical devices.  The
submission of an adverse event report for a medical device product to the FDA and its public release on MAUDE, or
other public database, does not, by regulation, reflect a conclusion by us or the FDA that the product caused or
contributed to the adverse event.  However, as part of our post-marketing assessment, we routinely monitor the
adverse event reports we received to identify potential safety issues, known as signals that may require us to take
account with respect to the product, such as a recall or other market action.  The FDA and other regulatory authorities
also monitor adverse event reports to identify safety signals, and may take action in connection with that monitoring. 
We cannot assure you that the FDA will agree with our assessments of whether a safety signal exists for one of our
products.  Furthermore, any adverse publicity associated with adverse events for our products could cause customers
to seek alternatives to our products, and thereby cause our sales to decline, even if our products are ultimately
determined not to have been the primary cause of the adverse event.

Our international operations subject us to certain operating risks, which could adversely impact our net sales, results
of operations and financial condition.

Sales of our products outside the U.S. represented approximately 30 percent of our revenue in fiscal 2015.  Many of
the products we sell to our OEM customers in the U.S. are subsequently shipped to their non-U.S. customers in
various countries around the world, but revenue attributable to these sales is included in our domestic revenues.  As of
July 31, 2015, we sell our ophthalmic products outside the U.S. through six direct sales organizations in Australia,
France, Germany, Italy and the United Kingdom, after our acquisition of M.I.S.S. on July 8, 2013 and Sterimedix on
December 10, 2014.  The results of operations and the financial position of certain of our foreign operations are
reported in the relevant local currencies and then translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rates for
inclusion in our consolidated financial statements, exposing us to translation risk.  Our most significant currency
exposures are to the Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) and the euro.  The exchange rates between the GBP and the euro in
comparison to the U.S. dollar may fluctuate substantially.  We have not attempted to offset our exposure to these risks
by investing in derivatives or engaging in hedging activities.

In addition to our direct sales outside the U.S., we have over 80 independent distributors selling our products in over
60 countries.  The sales of our products across international borders subject us to extensive U.S. and foreign
government trade, import, export and custom regulations and laws.  Compliance with these regulations is costly and
may expose us to penalties for non-compliance.  Other laws and regulations that can significantly impact us are
various anti-bribery laws including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and anti-boycott
laws.  Any failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations could impact us in a variety of ways that
include, but are not limited to, significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties, including imprisonment of
individuals, fines and penalties, denial of export privileges, seizure of shipments, restrictions of certain business
activities and exclusion or debarment from government contracting.  Also, the failure to comply with applicable legal
and regulatory obligations could result in delays and other disruptions of our shipping and sales activities.

In addition, many countries in which we sell our products are, to some degree, subject to political, economic or social
instability.  Our international operations expose us and our distributors to risks inherent in operating in foreign
jurisdictions.  These risks include:

• changes in foreign medical reimbursement and coverage policies and
programs;

•cultural differences;
•shortage of high-quality sales personnel and distributors;
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•pricing pressure from local and regional competitors;

•foreign certification requirements, including the ability to use the “CE” mark in Europe, and other local regulatoryrequirements;
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•difficulties in enforcing or defending our intellectual property rights;
•fluctuations in currency exchange rates and foreign currency translation adjustments;

•unexpected changes in international or local market regulatory requirements, including imposition of currencyexchange controls;
•longer accounts receivable collection cycles;
•import or export licensing requirements;
•potentially adverse tax consequences;
•political and economic instability;
•obtaining regulatory approvals for our products;
•end-market and/or regional competition that may have competitive advantages; and
•subjectivity of foreign laws.

We also encounter legislative, regulatory and pricing issues in most countries outside the U.S.  International
operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other market regulations, and we believe
the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe and other countries has and will continue to put
pressure on the price and usage of medical device products.  Although we cannot predict the extent to which our
business may be affected by future cost-containment measures or other potential legislative or regulatory
developments, foreign price controls or other changes in pricing regulation cold restrict the amount that we able to
charge for our current and future products, which could adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates may reduce the reported value of our foreign currency revenues, net of
expenses and cash flows.  We cannot predict changes in currency exchange rates, the impact of exchange rate
changes, nor the degree to which we will be able to manage the impact of currency exchange rate changes.

Worldwide macroeconomic slowdowns and related uncertainties could adversely affect our revenues, financial
condition or results of operations.

We are subject to macro-economic fluctuations in the U.S. and worldwide economy.  We may be impacted by general
economic conditions and factors over which we have no control, such as changes in inflation, interest rates and
foreign currency rates, lack of liquidity in certain markets and volatility in capital markets.  Concerns about consumer
and investor confidence, volatile corporate profits and reduced capital spending, international conflicts, terrorist and
military activity, civil unrest and pandemic illness could reduce customer orders or cause customer order
cancellations.  In addition, political and social turmoil related to international conflicts and terrorist acts may put
further pressure on economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad.

Weak economic conditions and declines in consumer spending and consumption may harm our operating results. 
During uncertain economic times, customers or potential customers may delay or reduce their purchases of our
products, which may impact our business in a numbers of ways:
· lower prices for our products;
·reducing or delaying sales;
· insolvency of key suppliers resulting in product delays; and
·delays in customer payments of outstanding accounts receivables.

We may face manufacturing and quality control challenges which could impact our competitive advantage.

The manufacturing of our surgical equipment and disposable accessories is a highly complex and precise process.  We
assemble critical components and sub-assemblies and substantially all our final products at our facilities in O’Fallon,
Missouri and Redditch, United Kingdom. We may experience manufacturing difficulties, quality control issues or
manufacturing constraints, particularly with regards to new products and increased production demands.  If our sales
increase substantially, we may need to increase our production and quality control capacity and may not be able to do

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

42



so in a timely, effective or cost efficient manner.  We may not be able to manufacture sufficient quantities of our
products which may require us to qualify other manufacturers of our products.  Furthermore, we may experience
delays, disruptions, capacity constraints or quality control problems in our manufacturing operations and as a result,
product shipments to our customers could be delayed, which would negatively impact our net sales.  Also, we may
overestimate the demand for our product leading to excess inventory, which would increase our inventory carrying
costs and increase the risk of inventory write-downs.  Any of these occurrences would negatively impact our business
and operating results.
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In addition, quality is extremely important to us and our customers due to the serious and costly consequences of
product failure.  Our quality certifications are critical to the marketing success of our products.  If we fail to meet
these standards, our reputation could be damaged, we could lose customers and our revenue and results of operations
could decline.

If any of our single source or limited source suppliers were to cease providing components, we may not be able to
produce certain products.

Our products are assembled from raw materials and components supplied to us by third parties.  Most of the raw
materials and components used in the manufacturing of our products are available from more than one supplier.  For
some components, there are relatively few alternate sources of supply.  However, we rely upon single source suppliers
or contract manufacturers for a portion of our disposable product lines and for several key components of our
PhotonTM light sources, our VersaVIT 2.0TM vitrectomy system and our electrosurgical generators.  In addition, these
suppliers must also adhere to the FDA’s rigorous manufacturing standards.  Our profit margins and our ability to
develop and deliver products on a timely basis may be adversely affected by the lack of alternative supply in the
required timeframe.

Any failure by us to forecast demand for, or to maintain an adequate supply of, the raw material and finished goods
could result in an interruption in the supply of certain products and a decline in sales of that product.  In addition, if
our suppliers are unable to meet our manufacturing requirements, we may not be able to produce a sufficient amount
of products in a timely manner, which could cause a decline in our sales.

There are risks associated with the use of independent manufacturers including:

·unavailability of, shortage of or limitations on the ability to obtain supplies of components in the quantities werequire;
·delays in delivery or failure of suppliers to deliver critical components on the dates we require;
·failure of suppliers to manufacture our components to our specifications; and
·potentially reduced quality and inability to obtain components at acceptable prices.

Pursuant to the conflict minerals requirements promulgated by the SEC as part of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act, we are required to track and disclose the source of any conflict minerals used in our
products, as well as the process we use to determine the source of such materials.  We are required to carry out a
diligent effort to determine and disclose the source of these materials.  There can be no assurance we can obtain this
information from intermediate producers who are unwilling or unable to provide this information or further identify
their sources of supply or to notify us if these sources change.  We may incur expenses as we work with our suppliers
to evaluate the source of any conflict minerals in our products, and compliance with these requirements could
adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of our raw materials.

The loss of key personnel or failure to integrate replacement personnel could harm our business.

Our future success depends upon the continued service of key management, technical sales and other critical
personnel, including Messrs. Hable, Fanning and Stroisch and Ms. Boone, our Chief Executive Officer, our Vice
President of Domestic Sales, our Vice President of Marketing and Technology, and our Chief Financial Officer,
respectively.  We maintain key person life insurance for Mr. Hable and Ms. Boone.  Our officers and other key
personnel are employees-at-will, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to retain them.  The loss of any key
employee could result in a disruption to our operations and could materially harm our business.  In addition, the
integration of replacement personnel could be time consuming, may cause additional disruptions to our operations,
and may be unsuccessful.
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Our operating results may fluctuate.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and can be expected to fluctuate from time to time in the future. Some
of the factors that may cause these fluctuations include, but are not limited to:

•general economic uncertainties and political concerns;
•changes in demand for our base ophthalmology and neurosurgery products;

•changes in customer capital availability and customer budgets as a result of, among other things, reimbursementpolicies of government programs and private insurers for treatments that use our products;
•receipt of necessary regulatory approvals;
•the introduction of new products or product lines;
•product modifications;
•the level of market acceptance of new products;
•the timing of R&D and other expenditures;
•timing of the receipt of orders from, and product shipments to, distributors and customers;
•changes in the distribution arrangements for our products;

•manufacturing or supply delays, including the ability of our sole or limited source suppliers to timely delivercomponents at the times and prices that we have planned;
•the time needed to educate and train additional sales and manufacturing personnel;
•increased costs associated with product introductions;
•costs associated with defending our intellectual property; and
•product returns from customers.

In addition to these factors, current expenditures are based, in part, on expected future sales.  If sales levels in a
particular quarter do not meet expectations, we may be unable to adjust operating expenses quickly enough to
compensate for the shortfall of sales, and our results of operations may be adversely affected.  We have historically
made a significant portion of each quarter’s product shipments near the end of such quarter.

If we experience decreasing prices for our products and we are unable to reduce our expenses proportionally, our
results of operations will suffer.

We may experience decreasing prices for our goods and services due to pricing pressure experienced by our customers
from managed care organizations and third-party payers, increased market power of our customers as the medical
device industry consolidates and increased competition among medical engineering and manufacturing service
providers.  If the prices for our products decrease and we are unable to reduce our expenses, our results of operations
will be adversely affected.

We may have product liability claims, and our insurance may not cover all claims.

The development, manufacture, sale and use of medical products entail significant risk of product liability claims.  We
maintain product liability coverage at levels we have determined are reasonable.  We cannot assure you that such
coverage limits are adequate to protect us from any liabilities we might incur in connection with the development,
manufacture, sale or use of our products.  In addition, we may require increased product liability coverage as our sales
increase in their current product applications and new applications, and with respect to new products.  Product liability
insurance is expensive and in the future may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.  A successful product
liability claim or series of claims brought against us in excess of our insurance coverage could adversely affect our
business.
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Acquisitions could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other harmful consequences that may adversely impact
our business and results of operations.

Acquisitions are an important element of our overall corporate strategy and use of capital, and these transactions could
be material to our financial condition and results of operations. We expect to continue to evaluate and enter into
discussions regarding a wide array of potential strategic transactions. The process of integrating an acquired company,
business, or technology may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. The areas where we face risks
include:

·diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration challenges;
·failure to successfully further develop the acquired business or technology;
· implementation or remediation of controls, procedures, and policies at the acquired company;

· integration of the acquired company’s accounting, human resource, and other administrative systems, andcoordination of product, engineering, and sales and marketing functions;
· transition of operations, users, and customers onto our existing platforms;

·
failure to obtain required approvals on a timely basis, if at all, from governmental authorities, or conditions placed
upon approval, which could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing a transaction, or otherwise
restrict our ability to realize the expected financial or strategic goals of an acquisition;

· in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and toaddress the particular economic, currency, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;

·cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization, andretention of employees from the businesses we acquire;

·
liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement
claims, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities, product liabilities and other known and unknown
liabilities; and

·litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees,customers, former stockholders, or other third parties.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions
could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions, incur unanticipated liabilities and harm
our business generally.

Our acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent
liabilities, or amortization expenses, or impairment of goodwill and purchased long-lived assets, and restructuring
charges, any of which could harm our financial condition or results. Also, the anticipated benefit of many of our
acquisitions may not materialize.

If our facilities were to experience catastrophic loss, our operations would be seriously harmed.

Our facilities could be subject to catastrophic loss such as fire, flood, tornados or earthquake. A substantial portion of
our R&D and manufacturing activities, our corporate headquarters and other critical business operations are located in
O’Fallon, Missouri and California near major fault lines which could experience an earthquake. We maintain property
and business interruption insurance coverage at levels we have determined are reasonable.  Any such loss at any of our
facilities could disrupt our operations, delay production, shipments and revenue and result in significant expenses to
repair and replace our facilities.

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would
cause our business and reputation to suffer.
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Failure to comply with domestic and international privacy laws can result in the imposition of significant civil and
criminal penalties.  The costs of compliance with these laws, including protecting electronically stored information
from cyber attacks, and potential liability associated with failure to do so could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to various domestic and international privacy and security regulations, including but not limited to the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPPA”).  HIPAA mandates, among other things, the adoption of
uniform standards for the electronic exchange of information in common healthcare transactions, as well as standards
relating to the privacy and security of individually identifiable health information, which require the adoption of
administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect such information.  In addition, many states have enacted
comparable laws addressing the privacy and security of health information, some of which are more stringent than
HIPPA.
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While we currently expend resources to protect against cyber attacks and security breaches, we may need to expend
additional significant resources in the future to continue to protect against potential security breaches or to address
problems caused by such attacks or any breach of our safeguards.  A party that is able to circumvent our security
safeguards could, among other things, misappropriate or misuse sensitive or confidential information, user
information or other proprietary information, cause significant interruptions in our operations and impair our ability to
conduct our business, comply with regulations and adversely impact our customers during the occurrence of any such
incident.

Risks related to Our Financial Condition

We are subject to credit risk from our accounts receivable related to our product sales, which include sales within
European and emerging market countries that are currently experiencing economic turmoil.

The majority of our accounts receivable arise from product sales in the U.S. Our accounts receivable in the U.S. are
primarily due from OEM partners, public and private hospitals and ambulatory surgery centers.  However, we also
have receivable balances from customers within the European Union, Turkey, Canada, Japan, Russia and Brazil.  Our
accounts receivable outside the U.S. are due from independent distributors and, to a lesser extent, public and private
hospitals.  Our historic write-offs of accounts receivable have not been significant.

We monitor the financial performance and creditworthiness of our customers so that we can properly assess and
respond to changes in their credit profile.  Our independent distributors operate in Spain, Italy and Greece, among
other countries, where economic conditions continue to present challenges to our independent distributors’ businesses,
and thus, could place at risk the amount due to us from them.

Our cash maintained with a bank may not be fully insured.

We maintain significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents at a financial institution that is in excess of federally
insured limits.  Given the current instability of financial institutions, we cannot be assured that we will not experience
losses on these deposits.

We have significant goodwill and other intangible assets and potential impairment of goodwill and other intangibles
may significantly impact our profitability.

Goodwill and intangible assets represent a significant portion of our total assets.  Finite-lived intangibles assets are
subject to an impairment analysis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the
asset may not be recoverable.  Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles assets are tested annually for impairment if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired.  If an impairment exists, we would be
required to take an impairment charge with respect to the impaired asset.  Events giving rise to impairment are
difficult to predict and are an inherent risk in the medical device industry.  As a result of the significance of goodwill
and intangible assets, our financial condition and results of operations in a future period could be negatively impacted
should such an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets occur.

The terms of our debt agreement impose restrictions on our business.

Our indebtedness may limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in
which we operate and, consequently, place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors.  The operating and
financial restrictions and covenants in our debt agreements may adversely affect our ability to finance future
operations or capital needs or to engage in new business activities.  For example, our debt arrangements restrict our
ability to, among other things, incur liens and engage in consolidations, mergers or asset sales.
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Risks related to the Regulation of our Industry

Uncertainty regarding U.S. healthcare reform measures, other healthcare regulatory changes and changes in
third-party coverage and reimbursement policies could adversely affect our revenue and financial condition.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act as modified by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act
were enacted into law in March 2010.  The legislation is far reaching and is intended to expand access to health
insurance coverage and improve the quality and reduce the costs of healthcare over time.  Certain provisions of the
law will not be effective for a number of years, and there are many programs and requirements for which the details
have not yet been fully established or consequences not fully understood.  It is unclear what the full impacts will be
from the law.  We expect the law will have a significant impact upon various aspects of our business operations.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act imposes an excise tax on domestic sales of class I, II and III medical
devices at the rate of 2.3 percent of sales revenue, for which medical device manufacturers became liable beginning in
January 2013.  Substantially all of our products are class I and II medical devices.  The inability to offset this tax
could have a material impact on results of operations.

The law also focuses on a number of Medicare provisions aimed at improving quality and decreasing costs, though we
are not certain of the impact that these provisions will have on patient access to new technologies and medical
procedures.

Additional changes in government legislation or regulation, or changes in private third-party payers’ policies toward
reimbursement for procedures employing our products, may prohibit adequate reimbursement.  There have been a
number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the healthcare system, reduce the cost of healthcare and
change medical reimbursement policies.  Further proposed legislation or regulation and policy changes affecting
third-party reimbursement are likely.  We cannot predict what legislation or regulation, if any, relating to the health
care industry or third-party coverage and reimbursement may be enacted in the future, or what the effect of such
legislation or regulation may have on us.  However, any changes that lower reimbursement for our products or reduce
medical procedure volumes could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our industry is experiencing greater scrutiny and regulation by governmental authorities, which may lead to greater
governmental regulation in the future.

Medical device companies are subject to rigorous regulation, including by the FDA and numerous other federal, state
and foreign governmental authorities.  These authorities and members of the United States Congress have been
increasing their scrutiny of our industry.  In addition, certain states have recently passed or are considering legislation
restricting our interactions with health care providers and requiring disclosure of payments to them.  As a result, the
Physician Payment Sunshine Act enacted in 2010 imposes reporting and disclosure requirements on device and drug
manufacturers for any “transfers of value” made or distributed to health care providers licensed by certain states and,
starting with payments or other transfers of value made on or after August 1, 2013, to all U.S. physicians and U.S.
teaching hospitals at the federal level.  Failure to submit this required information may result in significant civil
monetary penalties.  While we have developed corporate compliance programs based on what we believe to be current
best practices, we cannot assure you that we or our employees or agents are or will be in compliance with all
applicable federal, state or foreign regulations and laws.  We anticipate that the various governments will continue to
closely scrutinize our industry, and additional regulations by governmental authorities may increase compliance costs,
exposure to litigation and other adverse effects to our operations.

Delays in the receipt of or our failure to receive regulatory clearances or approvals, the loss of previously received
clearances or approvals, or failure to comply with existing or future regulatory requirements could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects.
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Our R&D activities and the manufacturing, labeling, distribution and marketing of our existing and future products are
subject to regulation by governmental agencies in the United States and in other countries.  The FDA and comparable
agencies in other countries impose mandatory procedures and standards for the conduct of clinical trials and the
production and marketing of products for medical diagnostic and therapeutic use.
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Products under development are subject to FDA approval or clearance prior to commercial use.  The process of
obtaining necessary FDA approvals or clearances is not only costly, but can potentially take years and the outcome
may be uncertain.  Our inability to obtain required regulatory approval or clearance in a timely manner could harm our
business.  Further, approval or clearance may place substantial restrictions on the indications for which the product
may be marketed or to whom it may be marketed.  Additional studies may be required to gain approval or clearance
for the use of a product for clinical indications other than those for which the product was initially approved or cleared
or for changes to the product.

Furthermore, an additional risk relates to the regulatory classification of new products or proposed new uses for
existing products.  With each application, we are required to make a judgment about the appropriate form and content
of the application.  If the FDA disagrees with our judgment in any particular case and, for example, requires us to file
a premarket approval application rather than a Section 510(k) premarket notification or requires clinical data be added
to our application, the time and expense required to obtain the approval might be significantly increased and approval
may become less likely.

Once approved or cleared for marketing, our products are subject to continuing FDA requirements, such as those
relating to quality control and quality assurance, maintenance of records, reporting of adverse events and product
recalls, documentation and labeling and restrictions on promotion of medical devices.  Failure to precisely follow any
of these requirements may lead to unanticipated costs of remediation, a product recall and/or an order to cease
production and sales of a product. A recall could divert management’s attention, cause us to incur significant expenses,
harm our reputation with customers and negatively affect our future net sales.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain necessary clearances or approvals to market any new
products, or to market existing products for new intended uses, on a timely basis, if at all.  There can be no assurance
that we will be able to continue to market existing products without interruption due to regulatory oversight.

Moreover, for the majority of our non-direct, foreign sales, our distributors assist with and control regulatory approval
or clearance for product marketing.  We cannot be certain that such approvals or clearances are actually effective.  Nor
can we be assured that approval or clearance for product marketing in any given country would continue to be
effective for any distributor other than our current distributor in that same country, if any of our current distributors
cease to distribute our products.  A change in our distributor in any country could lead to delays in continued sales in
that country while regulatory approval or clearances are sought to be renewed.  Such a delay could have significant
impacts on our net sales outside the U.S.

We may be subject to penalties and may be precluded from marketing our products if we fail to comply with extensive
governmental regulations.

The FDA and non-U.S. regulatory authorities require that our products be manufactured according to rigorous
standards.  These regulatory requirements may significantly increase our production costs and may even prevent us
from making our products in amounts sufficient to meet market demand.  If we change our approved manufacturing
process, the FDA may need to review the process before it may be used.  Failure to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements discussed could subject us to enforcement actions, including:

•warning letters;
•fines, injunctions and civil penalties against us;
•recall or seizure of our products;
•operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of our production;
•refusing our requests for premarket clearance or approval of new products;
•withdrawing product approvals already granted; and
•criminal prosecution.
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The imposition of any of these enforcement actions could have a negative effect on our reputation, business operations
and financial condition.
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Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could have a material impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, in both the U.S. and various jurisdictions outside
the U.S.  We are subject to ongoing tax audits in various jurisdictions.  Tax authorities may disagree with certain
positions we have taken and assess additional taxes and penalties.  We regularly assess the likely outcomes of these
audits in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision.  However, there can be no assurance that we will
accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes of these audits could have a material impact
on our consolidated earnings and financial condition.  Additionally, changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materially
impact our effective tax rate. For example, recent legislation imposed on medical device manufacturers a 2.3 percent
excise tax on U.S. sales of medical devices which began in January 2013. Proposals for fundamental U.S. corporate
tax reform, if enacted, could have a material impact on our future results of operations.

Our intellectual property rights may not provide meaningful commercial protection for our products, which could
adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.

Our ability to compete effectively depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our
technologies and manufacturing processes, which includes the ability to obtain, protect and enforce patents on our
technology and to protect our trade secrets.  We own patents that cover significant aspects of our products.  Certain
patents of ours have expired and others will expire in the future.  Competitors may develop products similar to ours
that our patents do not cover.  In addition, our current and future patent applications may not result in the issuance of
patents in the United States or other countries.  Further, there is a substantial backlog of patent applications in the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office and the approval or rejection of patent applications may take several years.  In addition,
challenges may be made to our patents in the courts or any of various patent offices around the world, and as a result
our patents could be narrowed, invalidated or rendered unenforceable.  We may incur substantial costs and resources
in applying for and prosecuting these patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights.

Our competitive position depends, in part, upon unpatented trade secrets, which can be difficult to protect. Others may
independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or gain access to our trade
secrets.  In an effort to protect our trade secrets, we require consultants, advisors and most of our employees to
execute confidentiality agreements and certain of them to sign invention assignment agreements upon commencement
of employment or a consulting relationship with us.  Some jurisdictions limit the enforceability and scope of these
agreements, and these agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary
information in the event of the unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential information.

In addition, the laws of certain countries in which we market some of our products do not protect our intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S.  If we are unable to protect our intellectual property in these
countries, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The intellectual property rights of others may adversely affect our ability to introduce new products or continue to sell
existing products.

The medical device industry is characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property
rights.  Companies in the medical device industry have employed intellectual property litigation to gain a competitive
advantage.  Numerous patents are held by others, including academic institutions and our competitors.  These patents
may be employed to limit our ability to market our products, for example, through patent infringement litigation. 
Patent applications generally will be published 18 months after the filing date.  However, since patent applications
continue to be maintained in secrecy for at least some period of time, we cannot assure you that our technology does
not infringe any patents, patent applications held by third parties, prior patents, or prior art.  We have, from time to
time, been notified of, or have otherwise been made aware of, claims that we are infringing upon patents or other
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proprietary intellectual property owned by others.  If it appears necessary or desirable, we may seek licenses under
such patents or proprietary intellectual property.  Although patent holders may offer such licenses, licenses under such
patents or intellectual property may not be offered or the terms of any offered licenses may not be reasonable.  Any
infringement claims, with or without merit, and regardless of whether we are successful on the merits, could be
time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel, cause shipment
delays or require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing agreements.  An adverse
determination could prevent us from manufacturing or selling our products, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risks related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The market price of our stock may be highly volatile.

Our stock price has fluctuated widely.  It ranged from $3.01 to $5.92 per share during the year ended July 31, 2015. 
Our stock price could continue to experience significant fluctuations in response to certain factors, some of which are
beyond our control, such as:

•our ability to successfully commercialize our products;
•the execution of new agreements and material changes in our relationships with companies with whom we contract;
•quarterly fluctuations in results of operations;

•announcements regarding technological innovations or new commercial products by us or our competitors or theresults of regulatory filings;
•market reaction to trends in sales, marketing and R&D and reaction to acquisitions;
•sales of common stock by existing shareholders;
•changes in key personnel;
•economic and political conditions, including worldwide geopolitical events; and
•fluctuations in the United States financial markets.

In addition, our common stock may experience an imbalance between supply and demand resulting from low trading
volumes, and therefore broad market fluctuations could have a significant impact on the market price of our common
stock regardless of our performance.

Synergetics USA, Inc. has anti-takeover defenses that could delay or prevent an acquisition and could adversely affect
the price of its common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law may have the effect of deterring hostile
takeovers or delaying or preventing changes in the control of the Company, including transactions in which our
shareholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current market prices.  In addition, these
provisions may limit the ability of our shareholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best
interest.  Also, our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, as nearly equal in size as practicable, with
three-year staggered terms.  This provision may deter a potential acquirer from engaging in a transaction with us
because it will be unable to gain control of our Board of Directors until at least two annual meetings have been held in
which directors are elected by our shareholders.

Because we do not intend to pay dividends, stockholders will benefit from an investment in our common stock only if
it appreciates in value.

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock since inception.  We currently expect to retain any earnings for
use to further develop our business, and we do not expect to declare cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future.  The declaration and payment of any such dividends in the future depends upon our earnings,
financial condition, capital needs and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors, and may be restricted
by agreements with lenders.  As a result, the success of an investment in our common stock will depend entirely upon
future appreciation.  There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price
at which stockholders have purchased their shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Our primary office and manufacturing operations are conducted in a 60,000 square foot building owned by
Synergetics’ wholly owned subsidiary, Synergetics Development Company, LLC, a Missouri limited liability
company.  The facility is located in O’Fallon, Missouri, approximately 25 miles west of St. Louis, Missouri.  We also
lease 19,200 square feet of additional space adjacent to our headquarters in O’Fallon, Missouri, pursuant to a lease that
expires on February 29, 2016.  The additional space houses the advanced technology and engineering group as well as
the manufacturing and servicing of our capital equipment.

We also lease 13,500 square feet of space in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania, which is used for repair activities.  The
lease for this facility expires on October 31, 2015.  These operations are relocating to a 1,000 square foot facility in
Croydon, Pennsylvania.  This lease expires on September 14, 2016.

Our subsidiary, M.I.S.S., owns an approximately 1,700 square foot building located approximately 90 kilometers
outside of London, which serves as office and warehouse space for our United Kingdom operations.  We also lease
two additional warehouses of approximately 1,000 and 750 square feet, respectively, next to the owned facility, which
is used as our European warehouse.  These leases expire on June 30, 2017 and November 30, 2015, respectively.

Our subsidiary, Sterimedix, an owns approximately 7,500 square foot building located approximately 150 kilometers
outside of London, which serves as manufacturing, office and warehouse space.  We also lease a 5,900 square foot
building next to the owned facility, which is used as manufacturing and warehouse space.  The lease expires on
November 20, 2020.

In addition, we lease a 13,000 square foot building in California, which is used for office, OEM manufacturing and
distribution activities.  The lease expires on November 30, 2017.

We believe that these facilities are suitable and adequate for our current operations.  Given our continuous
improvement initiatives, we believe that we have the ability to generate additional production capacity using our
existing manufacturing facilities.

The net book value of plant, property and equipment relating to these facilities and operations was $10.5 million, $8.7
million, and $9.0 million at July 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Of these amounts, $2.4 million at July 31,
2015 and $270,000 at July 31, 2014 related to assets located in the United Kingdom.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Following the announcement of the execution of the Merger Agreement, four putative stockholder class actions were
filed challenging the proposed transaction. Three of these actions were filed in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of the
State of Missouri and name as defendants all members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company, Valeant
and Merger Sub: (i) Murphy, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00778 (filed September 15, 2015
and amended September 23, 2015), (ii) Glorioso, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00803 (filed
September 23, 2015) and (iii) Scarantino, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00810 (filed
September 28, 2015) (the complaints referenced in (i), (ii) and (iii) collectively the “Missouri Actions”). One of these
actions was filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of  Delaware (the "Delaware Court") and names as defendants
all members of the Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger Sub: Nilsen, et al. v. Valeant Pharmaceuticals
International, et al., C.A. No. 11552-VCL (filed September 28, 2015) (the “Delaware Action” and together with the
Missouri Actions, the “Actions”).
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The Actions generally allege that the members of the Company’s Board of Directors breached their fiduciary duties to
the Company’s stockholders by, among other things, conducting a flawed process in considering the transaction,
agreeing to an inadequate Offer Price, providing incomplete and misleading information to stockholders, and
accepting unreasonable deal protection measures in the Merger Agreement that dissuade other potential bidders from
making competing offers. The Actions also allege that Valeant and Merger Sub aided and abetted these alleged
breaches of fiduciary duty.

All of the complaints except the Delaware Action seek, among other things: (i) declaration as a class action; (ii) an
order enjoining defendants from consummating the Offer; (iii) rescission of the proposed transaction or awarding
damages to members of the class in the event the transaction is consummated; and (iv) an award of fees and expenses
of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees. The Delaware Action seeks, among other things: (i)
declaration as a class action; (ii) an order awarding damages to members of the class; and (iii) an award of fees and
expenses of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees. The Company believes the allegations are
without merit.
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On October 2, 2015, the Company, each of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger
Sub entered into the MOU with the plaintiffs in the Actions, which sets forth the parties’ agreement in principle for a
settlement of the Actions on the basis of the additional disclosures made in a supplement to the Schedule 14D-9 filed
by the Company with the SEC on October 2, 2015. As explained in the MOU, the Company, the members of the
Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger Sub have agreed to the settlement solely to eliminate the burden,
expense and uncertainties inherent in further litigation and without admitting any liability or wrongdoing. The MOU
contemplates that (i) the parties will stipulate to the certification of the Missouri Actions as a class action, consisting
of a mandatory non opt-out class, that includes any and all persons who held shares of the Company’s common stock
(excluding defendants, and their immediate family members, and any successors in interest thereto) at any time during
the period beginning on September 1, 2015, through the date of consummation or termination of the proposed
transaction, and (ii) shall seek to enter into a stipulation of settlement providing for (a) the release by plaintiffs and
any member of the class, whether individual, direct, class, derivative, representative, legal, equitable, or any other type
or in any other capacity, of all claims relating to the allegations in the Actions, the Offer and the Merger Agreement,
and other transactions contemplated therein, or disclosures made in connection therewith, other than any properly
perfected claims for appraisal pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL, or claims to enforce the settlement, as set forth in
the MOU; (b) dismissal with prejudice of the Missouri Actions upon final approval of the settlement; and (c) dismissal
with prejudice of the Delaware Action within two business days of the final approval of the settlement. The claims
will not be released until such stipulation of settlement is approved by the Circuit Court of St. Charles County in the
State of Missouri. There can be no assurance that the parties will ultimately enter into a stipulation of settlement or
that the court will approve such settlement even if the parties were to enter into such stipulation. The settlement will
not affect the consideration to be received by the Company’s stockholders in connection with the Offer and the Merger
Agreement.

On October 8, 2015, the Delaware Court unilaterally dismissed the Delaware Action. The Delaware Court noted that
plaintiffs are not entitled to file placeholder actions and by choosing to be a part of the stipulation of settlement in the
Missouri Actions, the plaintiff in the Delaware Action has elected to proceed as part of the Missouri Actions. The
Delaware Court also stated that in the event the settlement is not approved, the litigation can be addressed in Missouri.

From time to time we may become subject to litigation claims that may greatly exceed our liability insurance limits. 
An adverse outcome of such litigation may adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. 
We record a liability when a loss is known or considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.  If a
loss is not probable, a liability is not recorded.  As of July 31, 2015, the Company has no litigation reserve recorded.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5.Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of EquitySecurities

The Company’s common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the ticker symbol “SURG.”  The table
below sets forth the range of high and low sales prices per share of the Company’s common stock as reported by The
NASDAQ Capital Market for each of the quarterly periods within the fiscal years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014. 
None of the prices shown reflect retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions.  For current price information, you are
urged to consult publicly available sources.

High Low
Year ended July 31, 2014
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Quarter ended October 31, 2013 $4.99 $3.80
Quarter ended January 31, 2014 $4.34 $3.24
Quarter ended April 30, 2014 $3.59 $2.93
Quarter ended July 31, 2014 $3.50 $2.95

Year ended July 31, 2015
Quarter ended October 31, 2014 $3.55 $3.01
Quarter ended January 31, 2015 $4.87 $3.39
Quarter ended April 30, 2015 $5.92 $4.40
Quarter ended July 31, 2015 $5.22 $4.13
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The number of shareholders of Synergetics USA, Inc. as of October 1, 2015, was approximately 3,500.

The Company has not paid a dividend to holders of its common stock.  We currently intend to retain earnings to
finance growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the near future.  Our
revolving credit facility restricts the payment of dividends, if, following the distribution, the fixed charge coverage
ratio would fall below the required minimum ratio.

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC, and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, respectively.

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on an investment in our common stock, and the
stocks of The NASDAQ Composite Stock Market and The NASDAQ Medical Devices, Instruments and Supplies
Index for the five-year period ended July 31, 2015.  The graph assumes the value of an investment of $100 in the
common stock of each group or entity at August 1, 2010 and the reinvestment of all dividends.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  The statements of income data for the years ended July 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013 and the balance sheet data as of July 31, 2015 and 2014 have been derived from audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  The
consolidated statements of income for the year ended July 31, 2012 and 2011 and the balance sheets data as of July
31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 have been derived from audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  The historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to
be expected in the future.

For the Fiscal Years Ended July 31,
2015* 2014** 2013*** 2012**** 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Income Data:
Sales $75,019 $64,769 $62,796 $60,014 $55,657
Cost of sales 34,802 28,540 30,425 25,495 22,876
Gross profit 40,217 36,229 32,371 34,519 32,781
Operating income 6,090 4,581 3,721 8,481 8,349
Income from continuing operations 4,478 3,063 2,559 5,968 5,669
Earnings per common share from income from continuing
operations– basic $0.18 $0.12 $0.10 $0.24 $0.23
Earnings per common share from income from continuing
operations – diluted $0.18 $0.12 $0.10 $0.24 $0.23
Net income 4,478 3,063 2,559 5,586 5,633
Earnings per common share – Basic $0.18 $0.12 $0.10 $0.22 $0.23
Earnings per common share –Diluted $0.18 $0.12 $0.10 $0.22 $0.23

*           In the second quarter of fiscal 2015, we have included the results of operations of Sterimedix from December
10, 2014, the date of the acquisition in fiscal 2015.  See discussion of this and other acquisitions in Item 8, Note 3
“Acquisitions” of  the consolidated financial statements.
**         In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we have included the results of operations of our recently acquired private
OEM company from May 3, 2014, the date of acquisition in fiscal 2014.
***       In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded an inventory write-down of approximately $2.1
million, or approximately $0.06 earnings per share, net of tax.  We have included M.I.S.S.’s results of operations in our
financial statements from July 9, 2013, the date of acquisition in the fiscal year 2013.
****     In the third quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company recorded an inventory write-down of approximately
$367,000, or approximately $0.01 earnings per share, net of tax.

As of July 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $11,911 $15,443 $12,470 $12,680 $18,399
Current assets 46,278 48,483 44,797 42,227 44,250
Total assets 95,621 84,715 82,693 78,763 81,310
Current liabilities 9,685 7,049 8,011 6,467 12,586
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Long-term liabilities 17,494 13,242 14,530 15,818 18,060
Retained earnings 40,638 36,160 33,097 30,538 24,952
Stockholders’ equity 68,442 64,424 60,152 56,478 50,664

Item 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

The following “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” commonly
referred to as MD&A, is intended to help the reader understand Synergetics USA, its operations and its business
environment.  MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated
audited financial statements and accompanying notes filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  This
overview summarizes the MD&A, which includes the following sections:

•Our Business — a general description of the key drivers that affect our business and the industries in which we operate.

•Our Business Strategy — a description of the strategic initiatives on which we focus and the goals we seek to achieve.

•Results of Operations — an analysis of the Company’s results of operations for the three years presented in our
consolidated financial statements.

•Liquidity and Capital Resources — an analysis of cash flows, sources and uses of cash, currency exchange and an
overview of our consolidated financial position.

•Contractual Obligations — an analysis of contracts entered into in the normal course of business that will require future
payments.

•Off–Balance–Sheet Arrangements — the Company has no off–balance–sheet arrangements.

•Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies — a description of critical accounting policies, including those that
affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
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Our Business

The Company is a medical device company. Through continuous improvement and development of our people, our
mission is to design, manufacture and market innovative surgical devices, surgical equipment and consumables of the
highest quality in order to assist and enable surgeons who perform surgery around the world to provide a better quality
of life for their patients. The Company’s primary focus is on the surgical disciplines of ophthalmology (vitreoretinal)
and neurosurgery. Our distribution channels include a combination of direct and independent sales organizations and
important strategic alliances with market leaders. The Company’s product lines focus upon precision engineered
disposable and reusable devices, surgical equipment, procedural kits and the delivery of laser energy, ultrasound,
electrosurgery, aspiration, illumination and irrigation, often delivered in multiple combinations. Enterprise-wide sales
information is included in Note 18 to the consolidated audited financial statements.

On September 1, 2015, the Company entered into the Merger Agreement with Valeant and Merger Sub, pursuant to
which, among other things, Merger Sub commenced the Offer for all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the
Company at the following price, each without interest thereon and subject to any applicable tax withholding: (i) $6.50
per share, net to the holder in cash, as the Cash Consideration, plus (ii) one non-transferable CVR, which represents
the right to receive up to two Contingent Consideration Payments, if any, of up to $1.00 in the aggregate net to the
holder in cash upon the achievement of the Contingent Consideration Milestones within the Milestone Achievement
Period, as set forth in the CVR Agreement.

As soon as commercially practicable following the completion of the Offer and satisfaction or waiver of the remaining
applicable conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company, with the
Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Valeant. The Merger will be effected without a vote of the
Company’s stockholders. At the Effective Time of the Merger, each share of common stock issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than any shares held in the treasury of the Company, shares owned by
Merger Sub, Valeant or any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Valeant, which will be canceled without any
conversion thereof and no payment or distribution will be made with respect thereto, and shares of common stock
owned by stockholders who have properly exercised any available rights of appraisal under Section 262 of the
DGCL), if any, will be canceled and will be converted automatically into the right to receive an amount per share
equal to the Merger Consideration.

The consummation of the Offer is conditioned on (i) at least a majority of all shares of our outstanding common stock
having been validly tendered into (and not withdrawn from) the Offer prior to the expiration date of the Offer; (ii) the
expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under applicable competition laws, including the HSR Act;
and (iii) other customary conditions. The Offer is not subject to a financing condition.

The Offer is initially scheduled to expire at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on October 14, 2015, subject to
extension in certain circumstances as required or permitted by the Merger Agreement, the SEC or applicable law.

Demand Trends

The Company’s sales increased 15.8 percent during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 (including $1.3 million of
deferred revenue recognized) compared with the previous fiscal year.  The increase in sales during fiscal 2015
compared to fiscal 2014 was primarily due to a $4.8 million increase in neurosurgery sales, $4.5 million increase in
ophthalmic sales and a $0.9 million increase in other sales.  Currently, disposable product sales account for
approximately 87.1 percent of our total product sales.  Overall sales of our disposable products grew $9.0 million, or
15.6 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014. Sales of capital equipment increased by approximately $1.3
million, or 17.5 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014.
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A study performed by Market Scope in March 2015 predicts a steady growth of 3.2 percent per year in retinal
procedures worldwide driven by increases in emerging market demand, the worldwide elderly population, the number
of surgeons, the number of diseases treated with vitrectomy procedures and the frequency of diabetic complications
due to the obesity epidemic.  Based upon this growth in procedures, sales of ophthalmology products worldwide are
forecasted to increase by approximately 7.7 percent.

Neurosurgical procedures on a global basis continue to rise at an estimated 1 to 3 percent growth rate driven by an
aging global population, new technologies, advances in surgical techniques and a growing global market resulting
from ongoing improvements in healthcare delivery in emerging market countries, among other factors. Based upon
this growth in procedures, sales of neurosurgical products worldwide are forecasted to increase by approximately 4
percent.

In addition, the Company believes that the demand for high quality, innovative products and new technologies
consistent with the Company’s devices and disposables will continue to favorably impact procedure growth in the
ophthalmic and neurosurgical markets.

Pricing Trends

The Company has generally been able to maintain the average selling prices for its products in the face of downward
pricing pressure in the healthcare industry. However, increased competition, in combination with customer budget
constraints, capital scarcity and the transition of procedures to the ambulatory surgery center, has continued to
pressure the Company’s selling prices on these devices. The Company has no major domestic group purchasing
agreements.

Economic Trends

Economic conditions may continue to negatively impact capital expenditures at the hospital, ambulatory surgical
center and physician level. Further, global economic conditions continue to negatively impact the volume and average
selling price of the Company’s products in our European markets.

Regulatory Developments

In March 2010, significant U.S. healthcare reform legislation, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as
modified by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, was enacted into law. As a
U.S.-headquartered company with significant sales in the United States, this law will likely have a material impact on
our results of operations.  A number of provisions of the new health care reform legislation are not yet finalized and
effective, and as such, we are unable to predict the full impact of the laws and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Among other matters, the law imposes a 2.3 percent excise tax on all U.S. medical device sales which became
effective in January 2013.  Approximately 70 percent of our consolidated fiscal 2015 sales were in the U.S.  If we are
unable to offset the taxes that will be levied on these sales, such as through the increase of efficiencies through our
continuous improvement initiatives, we expect that the new tax will materially and adversely affect our business, cash
flows and results of operations.

The law also focuses on a number of Medicare provisions aimed at improving quality and decreasing costs and
includes provisions such as value-based payment programs and increased funding of comparative research. 
Furthermore, the law includes a reduction, beginning in 2011, in the annual rate of inflation as used in reimbursement
formulas for hospitals and the establishment of an independent payment advisory board to recommend ways of
reducing the rate of growth in Medicare spending beginning in 2014.  We cannot predict what healthcare programs
and regulations will be ultimately implemented at the federal or state level, or the effect of any future legislation or
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could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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Our Business Strategy

The Company’s key strategy is to enhance shareholder value through profitable revenue growth in targeted segments
of the ophthalmology and neurosurgery markets. This is accomplished through the identification and development of
reusable and disposable devices and surgical equipment in collaboration with leading surgeons and OEM partners. We
are committed to establishing a strong operational infrastructure and financial foundation within which growth
opportunities can be prudently evaluated, financed and pursued. We will remain vigilant and sensitive to new
challenges which may arise from changes in the definition and delivery of appropriate healthcare in our fields of
interest. In fiscal 2016 and beyond, our strategic priorities are to drive accelerating growth in the ophthalmology
business, deliver improved profitability through our continuous improvement initiatives, manage our neurosurgery
and OEM business for stable growth and strong cash flows, demonstrate consistent, solid financial performance and
continue to grow through strategic acquisitions.  Enterprise-wide sales information is included in Note 18 to the
consolidated audited financial statements.  For additional detail on the Company’s Strategy, see Part I, Item 1, “Business
– Our Business Strategy.”

Results of Operations

Year Ended July 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended July 31, 2014

Net Sales

The following table presents net sales by category (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 %

Net Sales
Ophthalmic(1) $41,976 $37,433 12.1 %
Neurosurgery (2) 31,694 26,844 18.1 %
Other (3) 1,349 492 174.2%
Total $75,019 $64,769 15.8 %

(1)
Net sales from Ophthalmic represent all sales of ophthalmic devices from direct sales representatives, distribution
partners and OEMs.  Recognition of deferred revenue of $1.3 million from Alcon is included in this category for
the fiscal years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

(2)

Net sales from Neurosurgery represent sales of electrosurgery generators, disposable bipolar forceps and related
accessories and royalties from Codman, multi-channel generators, disposable ultrasonic tips and related
accessories to Stryker and certain neurosurgery disposables sold through distribution.  Many of the products we
sell to our neurosurgery OEM customers are shipped to their non-U.S. customers in various countries around the
world, but are included in our domestic revenues.

(3)Other net sales represent all sales of aesthetic devices and other miscellaneous revenues.

Ophthalmic sales increased 12.1 percent in fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014. Domestic ophthalmic sales decreased
0.9 percent primarily due to decreased sales of capital equipment and base business disposables partially offset by
increased sales of VersaVITTM procedural kits.  International ophthalmic sales increased 28.3 percent primarily due to
the addition of Sterimedix sales, partially offset by a 5.8 percent decrease in international ophthalmology direct and
distributor sales.  The decrease in international ophthalmology direct and distributor sales was primarily due to the
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates compared to the prior year.

Neurosurgery OEM sales increased by $4.8 million in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014. Total OEM Ksales rose
18.1 percent to $31.7 million in fiscal 2015 compared to $26.8 million in fiscal 2014. The increase was primarily due
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to strong sales of disposable ultrasonic aspirator tips and related accessories to Stryker and increased sales to Codman
in all product lines. Other sales increased $0.9 million in fiscal 2015, or 174.2 percent, compared to fiscal 2014,
primarily due to the addition of Sterimedix aesthetics sales in fiscal 2015.

Currently, disposable product sales account for approximately 87.1 percent of our total product sales.  Overall sales of
our disposable products grew $9.0 million, or 15.6 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014. Sales of capital
equipment increased by approximately $1.3 million, or 17.5 percent, in fiscal 2015 as compared to fiscal 2014.
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The following table presents domestic and international net sales (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July
31,
2015 2014 %

Net Sales
Domestic $52,530 $47,794 9.9 %
International 22,489 16,975 32.5%
Total $75,019 $64,769 15.8%

Domestic sales increased 9.9 percent in fiscal 2015 due to the 18.1 percent increases in neurosurgery sales to our
OEM customers which are recorded as domestic sales.  International sales increased 32.5 percent in fiscal 2015
primarily due to the addition of Sterimedix sales, partially offset by the 5.8 percent decrease in international
ophthalmology direct and distributor sales.  The decrease in international ophthalmology was primarily due to the
change in foreign currency exchange rates compared to the prior year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 53.6 percent in fiscal 2015, compared to 55.9 percent in fiscal 2014. 
Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014 decreased 2.3 percentage points due
to the following factors which occurred in fiscal 2015:  (i) the impacts of the change in foreign currency exchange
rates compared to the prior year; (2) the final costs associated with the upgrade of the VersaVITTM vitrectomy
machine to the version 2.0; and (3) the inventory purchase price accounting adjustment in connection with the
Sterimedix Acquisition.

Operating Expenses (dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014

Dollars
% of
Sales Dollars

% of
Sales

R&D costs $4,261 5.7 % $5,158 8.0 %
Sales and Marketing expenses 15,367 20.5 % 14,360 22.2 %
Medical Device Excise tax 487 0.6 % 486 0.7 %
Exit Costs 719 1.0 % 682 1.1 %
General and Administrative expenses 13,293 17.7 % 10,962 16.9 %
Total $34,127 45.5 % $31,648 48.9 %

R&D costs decreased $0.9 million to $4.3 million, or 5.7 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015,
compared to $5.2 million, or 8.0 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.  As of July 31, 2015,
there were 23 active product development projects in various stages of completion.  The Company’s R&D investment
is driven by the opportunities to develop new products to meet the needs of its surgeon customers and reflects the
Company’s R&D budget.  This results in an investment rate that is comparable to such spending by other medical
device companies.  The Company expects over the next few years to invest in R&D at a rate of approximately 6 to 8
percent of net sales.

Sales and marketing expenses, which consist of salaries, commissions and direct expenses, increased $1.0 million to
$15.4 million, or 20.5 percent of sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, compared to $14.4 million, or 22.2
percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.  These increases were primarily due to the expenses
associated with the upgrade of the VersaVITTM vitrectomy machine to version 2.0 and the addition of Sterimedix sales
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and marketing expenses.

Medical device excise tax was $487,000, or 0.6 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, compared
to $486,000, or 0.7 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.

Exit costs were $719,000, or 1.0 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, compared to $682,000 or
1.1 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.  Exit costs consisted primarily of the severance
obligations to former employees at the King of Prussia location.  We concluded manufacturing at the facility in
February 2015.
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General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses increased by approximately $2.3 million during the fiscal year ended
July 31, 2015 and as a percentage of net sales were 17.7 percent for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, as compared
to 16.9 percent for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.  These increases were primarily due to the addition of
Sterimedix Acquisition related expenses, Sterimedix G&A costs and executive management bonuses, partially offset
by the reduction in expenses associated with the Company’s King of Prussia facility

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model, and is recognized over the directors’ and employees’ requisite service periods. 
The Company will continue to grant options to its independent directors and officers but uses restricted stock to
provide incentive compensation for its non-officer employees.  As of July 31, 2015, there was approximately $2.0
million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements
granted under the Company’s Amended and Restated Synergetics USA, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan to be recognized as
follows: $904,000 in fiscal 2016, $605,000 in fiscal 2017, $411,000 in fiscal 2018 and $82,000 in fiscal 2019.

Other Income/Expense

Other expense in fiscal 2015 increased to $71,000 compared to other expense of $20,000 in fiscal 2014, primarily due
to interest payable on the $2.75 million term loan.  The borrowings under the term loan were used to fund the
Sterimedix Acquisition.

Operating Income, Income Taxes and Net Income

Operating income for fiscal 2015 was $6.1 million, as compared to operating income of $4.6 million in fiscal 2014.
The increase in operating income was primarily the result of a 21.9 percent increase in the cost of goods sold and a
15.8 percent increase in net sales (including $1.3 million of deferred revenue recognized) for a net increase in gross
profit of $4.0 million.  In addition, operating income was reduced in fiscal 2015 by an increase of $2.3 million in
G&A expenses and an increase of $1.0 million in sales and marketing expenses, partially offset by a $0.9 million
decrease in R&D expenses.

For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, the Company recorded a $1.5 million income tax provision on a pre-tax
income of $6.0 million, or 25.6 percent effective tax rate.  The decrease in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2015 was
primarily due to the re-enactment of the Research and Experimentation credit in December 2014 and to the
distribution of income between domestic and foreign tax jurisdictions. For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014, the
Company recorded a $1.5 million income tax provision on pre-tax income of $4.6 million, or 32.8 percent effective
tax rate.

Net income increased by $1.4 million to $4.5 million for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 from $3.1 million for the
same period in fiscal 2014.  Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the fiscal year ended
July 31, 2015 increased to $0.18 from $0.12 when compared to the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014.  Basic weighted
average shares outstanding increased to 25,362,166 at July 31, 2015 from 25,323,622 at July 31, 2014.

Year Ended July 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended July 31, 2013

Net Sales

The following table presents net sales by category (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July
31,
2014 2013 %
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Net Sales
Ophthalmic (1) $37,433 $36,348 3.0 %
Neurosurgery (2) 26,844 25,834 3.9 %
Other (3) 492 614 (19.9%)
Total $64,769 $62,796 3.1 %

(1)
Net sales from Ophthalmic represent all sales of ophthalmic devices from direct sales representatives, distribution
partners and OEMs.  Recognition of deferred revenue of $1.3 million from Alcon is included in this category for
the fiscal years ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(2)

Net sales from Neurosurgery represent sales of electrosurgery generators, disposable bipolar forceps and related
accessories and royalties from Codman, multi-channel generators, disposable ultrasonic tips and related
accessories to Stryker and certain neurosurgery disposables sold through distribution.  Many of the products we
sell to our neurosurgery OEM customers are shipped to their non-U.S. customers in various countries around the
world, but are included in our domestic revenues.

(3)Other net sales represent all sales of aesthetic devices and other miscellaneous revenues.
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Ophthalmic sales grew 3.0 percent in fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013. Domestic ophthalmic sales increased 2.1
percent primarily due to the increased sales to ophthalmology OEM customers while direct sales were down 0.9
percent.  Direct sales were down due to decreased sales of base business capital equipment and disposables, partially
offset by increased sales of VersaVITTM procedural kits.  International ophthalmic sales increased 4.2 percent
primarily due to increased sales to international ophthalmology OEM customers.  International direct and distributor
sales increased 0.3 percent due to increased sales from M.I.S.S. and decreased foreign currency losses, partially offset
by decreased sales of capital equipment and base business disposables.

Neurosurgery sales increased by $1.0 million in fiscal 2014 as compared to fiscal 2013. Total neurosurgery sales rose
3.9 percent to $26.8 million in fiscal 2014 compared with $25.8 million in fiscal 2013. The increase was primarily due
to strong disposable forceps sales to Codman and strong disposable ultrasonic aspirator tips and related accessories to
Stryker. Other sales decreased $0.1 million in fiscal 2014, or 19.9 percent, compared to fiscal 2013.

In fiscal 2014, disposable product sales accounted for approximately 86.9 percent of our total product sales.  Overall
sales of our disposable products grew $5.3 million, or 10.2 percent, in fiscal 2014 as compared to fiscal 2013. Sales of
capital equipment decreased by approximately $3.2 million, or 30.9 percent, in fiscal 2014 as compared to fiscal 2013
due to macroeconomic condition constraints.

The following table presents domestic and international net sales (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July
31,
2014 2013 %

Net Sales
Domestic $47,794 $46,489 2.8%
International 16,975 16,307 4.1%
Total $64,769 $62,796 3.1%

Domestic sales increased 2.8 percent in fiscal 2014 due to increases in OEM sales.  The majority of OEM sales were
recorded as domestic sales.  The increase in international sales of 4.1 percent was primarily due to increased sales to
international ophthalmology OEM customers.

Gross Profit

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 55.9 percent in fiscal 2014, compared to 51.5 percent in fiscal 2013. 
Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013 increased 4.4 percentage points due to
the following factors which occurred in fiscal 2013:  (i) an approximate $1.6 million increase in the reserve for excess
and obsolete inventory and its associated labor and overhead in the second quarter of fiscal 2013 impacted our margin
by 2.5 percentage points; (ii) weak demand for our disposable products reduced our ability to absorb labor and
overhead by 1.0 percentage point; and (iii) the decreased benefit from deferred revenue negatively impacted margin
by 0.3 percentage point.  Gross profit was also negatively impacted by product mix including both the products within
our ophthalmology product line and the OEM sales, as they comprised 44.3% of our sales mix in fiscal 2014.
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Operating Expenses (dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2014 2013

Dollars
% of
Sales Dollars

% of
Sales

R&D costs $5,158 8.0 % $3,643 5.8 %
Sales and Marketing expenses 14,360 22.2 % 13,805 22.0 %
Medical Device Excise tax 486 0.7 % 289 0.4 %
Exit Costs 682 1.1 % -- 0.0 %
G&A expenses 10,962 16.9 % 10,913 17.4 %
Total $31,648 48.9 % $28,650 45.6 %

R&D costs increased $1.5 million to $5.2 million, or 8.0 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014,
compared to $3.6 million, or 5.8 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013.  As of July 31, 2014,
there were 24 active product development projects in various stages of completion.

Sales and marketing expenses, which consist of salaries, commissions and direct expenses, increased $555,000 to
$14.4 million, or 22.2 percent of sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014, compared to $13.8 million, or 22.0
percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013.  In fiscal 2014, the Company added three support
personnel and one marketing professional and incurred other promotional costs as it launched the VersaVIT 2.0TM
vitrectomy system and related procedural kits.

Medical device excise tax increased $197,000 to $486,000, or 0.7 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July
31, 2014, compared to $289,000, or 0.4 percent of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013 as the Company
began paying the medical device excise tax in January 2013.

Exit costs were $682,000, or 1.1% of net sales, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014 due to the pending closure of
the King of Prussia location.  Exit costs consisted primarily of the severance obligations to former employees of this
location.

G&A expenses increased by approximately $49,000 during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014 and as a percentage of
net sales were 16.9 percent, as compared to 17.4 percent for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013.

Other Income/Expense

Other expense in fiscal 2014 decreased to $20,000 compared to other expense of $32,000 in fiscal 2013.

Operating Income, Income Taxes and Net Income

Operating income for fiscal 2014 was $4.6 million, as compared to operating income of $3.7 million in fiscal 2013.
The increase in operating income was primarily the result of a 6.2 percent decrease in cost of goods sold and a 3.1
percent increase in net sales (including $1.3 million of deferred revenue recognized) for a net increase in gross profit
of $3.9 million.  In addition, operating income was reduced in fiscal 2014 by an increase of $1.5 million in R&D
expenses, exit costs of $682,000, an increase of $555,000 in sales and marketing expenses, an increase of $197,000 in
medical device excise tax and an increase of $49,000 in G&A expenses.

For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014, the Company recorded a $1.5 million income tax provision on a pre-tax
income of $4.6 million, or 32.8 percent effective tax rate.  The effective tax rate was impacted by the expiration of the
Research and Experimentation credit from December 2013 partially offset by the international tax planning the
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Company performed in fiscal 2014.  For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013, the Company recorded a $1.1 million
income tax provision on pre-tax income of $3.7 million, or 30.6 percent effective tax rate.  The effective tax rate was
impacted by the re-enactment of the Research and Experimentation credit from December 2011.

Net income increased by $504,000 to $3.1 million for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2014 from $2.6 million for the
same period in fiscal 2013.  Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the fiscal year ended
July 31, 2014 increased to $0.12 from $0.10 when compared to the fiscal year ended July 31, 2013.  Basic weighted
average shares outstanding increased to 25,323,622 at July 31, 2014 from 25,243,010 at July 31, 2013.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company had $11.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and $2.5 million in interest-bearing debt as of July 31,
2015.

Working capital, including the management of inventory and accounts receivable, is a management focus. At July 31,
2015, the Company had an average of 68 days of sales outstanding (“DSO”) in accounts receivable.  The 68 days of
DSO at July 31, 2015 was 14 days favorable when compared to July 31, 2014 and 16 days favorable when compared
to July 31, 2013 utilizing the trailing 12 months of sales.

At July 31, 2015, the Company had 174 days of inventory on hand.  The inventory on hand was favorable by 20 days
when compared to July 31, 2014 and favorable by 4 days when compared to July 31, 2013 utilizing the trailing 12
months of cost of sales.  The Company had invested approximately $3.6 million in inventory for new products and
new product launches at the end of fiscal 2015.  However, the Company had $3.2 million in backlog as of July 31,
2015.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $9.8 million for the year ended July 31, 2015, compared to cash
flows provided by operating activities of approximately $5.7 million for the comparable fiscal 2014 period.  The
improvement in cash flows of approximately $4.1 million was primarily attributable to the increase in accounts
payable of $2.0 million, the increase in net income of $1.4 million, the increase in accrued expenses of $1.3 million,
the decrease in accounts receivable of $1.0 million and $0.1 million in various other adjustments. This increase was
partially offset by a decrease in deferred income taxes of $1.7 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities were $14.6 million for the year ended July 31, 2015, compared to cash used in
investing activities of $2.6 million for the comparable fiscal 2014 period.  During the year ended July 31, 2015, the
Company invested $13.2 million in the acquisition of Sterimedix.  During the year ended July 31, 2014, the Company
invested $1.4 million net cash in the acquisition of a private OEM company.  In addition, during the year ended July
31, 2015, cash additions to property and equipment and patents were $1.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively,
compared to $0.9 million and $0.3 million for fiscal 2014, respectively.

Cash flows provided by financing activities were approximately $2.4 million for the year ended July 31, 2015,
compared to cash provided by financing activities of $0.1 million for the year ended July 31, 2014.  The increase in
cash flows provided by financing activities was due primarily to the $2.75 million borrowed under the Company’s term
loan facility in connection with the Sterimedix Acquisition.

The Company had the following committed financing arrangements as of July 31, 2015:

Revolving Credit Facility: The Company has a credit facility with a bank which allows for borrowings of up to $9.5
million.  There were no borrowings under this facility at July 31, 2015.

Equipment Line of Credit: Under this credit facility, the Company may borrow up to $1.0 million.  There were no
borrowings under this facility at July 31, 2015.

Term Loan Facility:  The Company has a credit facility with a bank which allows for borrowings of up to $13.0
million with $6.5 million restricted for earn-out payments required under the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement.
There was $2.5 million borrowed under this facility at July 31, 2015.  The advances under the term loan are amortized
quarterly over five years.

These facilities bear interest based on either the one-, two- or three-month LIBOR plus 1.75 percent and adjusting
each quarter based upon our total debt EBITDA.  As of July 31, 2015, interest under the facilities was 1.93 percent. 
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The unused portion of the facilities is charged at a rate of 0.20 percent.  The termination date of the facilities is
February 28, 2018.  The facilities are collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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These facilities have two financial covenants: a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.25 times and a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25 times. The facilities restrict the payment of dividends if, following the distribution,
the fixed charge coverage ratio would fall below the required minimum. The Company was in compliance with its
covenants as of July 31, 2015.

Management believes that cash flows from operations, together with available cash, will be sufficient to meet the
Company’s working capital and capital expenditure needs for the next 12 months.  In addition, the remaining deferred
revenue from the Alcon settlement will flow through our statement of income over approximately the next 11 years. 
However, as the cash has already been collected, it will not impact our future liquidity.  See “Use of Estimates and
Critical Accounting Policies – Deferred Revenue” below.

Contractual Obligations

The Company has entered into contracts with various third parties in the normal course of business that will require
future payments.  The following illustrates the Company’s contractual obligations as of July 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Payments due by Period

Contractual Obligations

Total

Less
than
1
Year

1-3
Years

4-5
Years

More
than
5
Years

Operating Leases (1) $507 $267 $189 $ 51 $ --
Borrowings under term loan facility (2) 2,588 594 1,155 839 --
Contingent Acquisition Liability (3) -- -- -- -- --
Total Contractual Obligations $3,095 $861 $1,344 $ 890 $ --

(1)
We enter into operating leases in the normal course of business.  Some lease agreements provide us with the option
to renew the lease.  Our future cash payments would change if we exercised these renewal options or if we entered
into additional operating lease agreements.

(2)Represents term loan and related interest payments calculated at the interest rate in effect at July 31, 2015.

(3)
We are obligated to make payments to Sterimedix’s previous owners that are contingent upon gross profit margin
levels.  The payments are calculated as 136.7% of the amount by which Sterimedix’s defined gross profit exceeds
the following amounts for each annual period:

(i)£3,190,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015;
(ii)£3,767,500 for the year ended December 31, 2016; and
(iii)£4,400,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Because the amount and timing of these payments are not contractually set forth, they are excluded from the table
above.  See further description of the expected amount and timing of payments in “Use of Estimates and Critical
Accounting Policies – Contingent Acquisition Liability.”

The fair value of the future earn out payments recorded at the acquisition date was $2.8 million, determined using a
discounted cash flow methodology on probability-weighted expected cash flows.  These cash flows resulted in a range
of estimated payouts of $0 to $5.9 million over the three-year period.   The fair value of the obligation is based on the
Company’s estimates of future cash flows, which are contingent upon a number of assumptions, particularly product
demand and pricing.   Any future change required to the fair value of the contingent acquisition liability will be
reflected in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.
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Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies

The financial results of the Company are affected by the selection and application of accounting policies and methods.
Significant accounting policies which require management’s judgment are discussed below.

Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily records revenue from product sales when the revenue is realized and the product is shipped
from its facilities.  This includes satisfying the following criteria: the arrangement with the customer is evident,
usually through receipt of a purchase order; the sales price is fixed and determinable; delivery to the carrier has
occurred; and collectability is reasonably assured.  Freight and shipping billed to customers is included in net sales,
and the cost of shipping is included in cost of sales.  Sales tax billed to customers is included as a liability as products
are shipped.

The terms and conditions of sales to both our domestic and international distributors do not differ materially from the
terms and conditions of sales to our domestic and international end-user customers.

Service revenue substantially relates to repairs of products and is recognized when the service has been completed. 
Revenue from royalty fees is recorded as the products bearing the trademark are shipped.

Deferred Revenue

On April 23, 2010, the Company entered into a Settlement and License Agreement with Alcon  pursuant to which
Alcon paid to the Company $32.0 million. The net proceeds to the Company were $21.4 million after contingency
payments to attorneys. The Company recognized a gain from this agreement of $2.4 million in the third quarter of
fiscal 2010. The remaining $19.0 million has been accounted for as an up-front license fee under the Confidential
Settlement and License Agreement and was deferred and recognized as earned over a period estimated to be 15 years
based upon estimated shipments to Alcon under a related Supply Agreement executed pursuant to the settlement.  On
February 13, 2012, Alcon informed the Company that it had decided to cancel the project, orders and forecasts
covering the two products to have been supplied under the Supply Agreement. However, the Supply Agreement
remains in effect and the Company has continuing performance obligations associated with the Supply Agreement.
Therefore, the Company plans on recognizing the remaining deferred revenue associated with the Supply Agreement
ratably over the next 11 years, which is the remaining life of the patents and associated Supply Agreement. The
Company recognized $1.3 million, $1.3 million and $1.3 million of this deferred revenue for the fiscal years ended
July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting of purchased materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead, are stated at the lower of cost
or market, with cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. The Company’s inventory is very dynamic
and new products are added frequently.  Thus, the Company reviews the valuation of its inventory on a quarterly basis
and determines if a valuation allowance is necessary for items, including any excess quantities and identified
obsolescence.  The Company monitors inventory activity by product type and uses both quantitative and qualitative
factors to access the need for a reserve. The inventory analysis takes into account historical experience, the inventory’s
length of time on hand, historical sales, product life cycle and product obsolescence. To the extent that the Company
determines there are some excess quantities based on its projected levels of sales and other requirements, or obsolete
material in inventory, the Company records a valuation reserve against all or a portion of the value of the related parts
or products. If future cost valuations, future demand or market conditions are different from the Company’s
projections, a change in recorded inventory reserve may be required and would be reflected in cost of sales in the
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Amortization Periods

The Company records amortization of intangible assets using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of these assets.  It bases the determination of these useful lives on the period over which it expects the related assets to
contribute to its cash flows or in the case of patents, their legal life, whichever is shorter.  If the Company’s assessment
of the useful lives of intangible assets changes, it may change future amortization expense (see “Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets”).
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances
where a specific customer is unable to meet its financial obligations to the Company, the Company records an
allowance against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount that management reasonably
expects to collect. For all other customers, the Company records allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length
of time the receivables are past due, the current business environment and historical experience. Accounts receivable
are written off when deemed uncollectible.  Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are recorded
when received.  The Company generally does not charge interest on past-due amounts in accounts receivable.  The
Company has a history of minimal uncollectible accounts.  If the financial condition of customers or the length of time
that receivables are past due were to change, the Company may change the recorded amount of allowances for
doubtful accounts in the future.

Patents and Research and Development

Incremental legal and other costs to obtain patents are capitalized to a patent asset.  Salaries, benefits and other direct
costs of product development are expensed as operating expenses in R&D costs.  Patents are amortized to operations
under the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining statutory life of the patent or the cash flow stream
associated with that patent.

Goodwill

As of July 31, 2015, we have recorded $17.1 million of goodwill.  We perform purchase price allocations including
recognition of intangible assets when we have a business combination.  The excess of the purchase price after the
allocation of fair values to tangible assets, liabilities and identifiable intangibles is allocated to goodwill.  We make
judgments and estimates in conjunction with the carrying value of these assets, including determination of amounts to
be capitalized and whether the assets have finite or indefinite lives for amortization purposes.  Currently, we have one
reporting unit.

Carrying values for goodwill are reviewed annually in the fourth quarter and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may be impaired in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350”).  We have
adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: 
Testing Goodwill for Impairment,” which permits us to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether or not the
existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. We have determined, based upon the qualitative factors, that
it is more likely than not that goodwill is not impaired and no further testing was performed.  If we determine that it is
not more likely than not that the fair value of such an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, then we are not
required to perform any additional tests for assessing intangible assets for impairment. However, if we conclude
otherwise or elect not to perform the qualitative assessment, then we are required to perform a quantitative impairment
test that involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying
value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

If further testing is required, our tests may include three approaches to determine the fair value of our reporting unit. 
The first approach is discounted cash flows methodology, which focuses on our expected cash flows available for
common equity owners.  Net cash flows to equity is defined as our earnings plus depreciation, amortization and
interest expense, or EBITDA, less our estimated usage of cash for debt, capital expenditures and working capital
changes.  The resulting net cash flows and the terminal value (our value of invested capital at the end of the five year
projection period) are then discounted to derive an indication of the present value of the Company’s invested capital. 
Interest-bearing debt is then subtracted to arrive at the Company’s fair value of equity.  This valuation method is
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factor used to determine the present value of our future cash flows.  If necessary, we would also analyze two
additional valuation methods:  the Guideline Company approach and the Market Capitalization approach.
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Future changes in the judgments, assumptions and estimates that are used in our impairment testing for goodwill,
including discount and tax rates or future cash flow projections, could result in significantly different estimates of the
fair values.  A significant reduction in the estimated fair values could result in impairment charges that could
materially affect our financial statements.

Other Non-Amortizing Intangibles

As of July 31, 2015, we have recorded $5.9 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets for the Malis® trademark and
$2.9 million for the Sterimedix tradename.  The life of a trademark or tradename is inextricably related to the life of
the product bearing the mark or the life of the business entity owning the trademark or tradename.  The Company
intends to use the trademark and tradename indefinitely, and their useful life is not limited.

Carrying values for intangibles are reviewed annually in the fourth quarter and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may be impaired in accordance with ASC 350.  We have adopted the
provisions of ASU No. 2012-02, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other:  Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for
Impairment,” which permits us to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether or not the existence of events or
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair value of an intangible asset
is less than its carrying amount.  We have determined, based upon the qualitative factors, that it is more likely than not
that intangible assets are not impaired and no further testing was performed.  If we determine that it is not more likely
than not that the fair value of such an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, then we are not required to
perform any additional tests for assessing intangible assets for impairment. However, if we conclude otherwise or
elect not to perform the qualitative assessment, then we are required to perform a quantitative impairment test that
involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying value
of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

If further testing is required, we utilize the discounted cash flow methodology, which focuses on our expected cash
flows derived from the use of the intangible asset.  With respect to the trademark and tradename, the expected cash
flows are reduced by the related income taxes and debt.

Future changes in judgments, assumptions and estimates that are used in our impairment testing for intangibles,
including discount and tax rates or future cash flow projections, could result in significantly different estimates of the
fair values. Significant and unanticipated changes to either the market for our branded products or our contract
licensing the use of the Malis® trademark could require a provision for impairment in a future period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such asset may not be recoverable. 
Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the
group of assets and their eventual disposition.  Measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets and certain
identifiable intangible assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset.
Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Tax Assets and Liabilities

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC Topic 740”), which
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities.  ASC Topic 740 also requires that
deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if its “more likely than not” that some portion or all of the
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deferred tax asset may not be realized.  In our annual evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance, we take into
account various factors, including the expected level of future taxable income in our tax jurisdictions and available tax
planning strategies.  If actual results differ from these assumptions made in our annual evaluation of our valuation
allowance, we may record a change in valuation allowance through income tax expense in the period this
determination is made.  At July 31, 2015, we had deferred tax assets related to net foreign operating loss
carryforwards with a tax value of $2.4 million.  These net foreign operating loss carryforwards have various expiration
dates, depending on the country and period in which they occurred.  The Company has established a full valuation
allowance for these deferred tax assets in conjunction with its overall income tax strategy, including the inclusion of
our foreign losses on our U.S. tax return.
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In addition, the calculations of our tax liabilities involve dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax
regulation.  On August 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 740 related to uncertain tax positions.  It is
inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we have to determine the probability of certain
outcomes.  We reevaluate these positions on a quarterly basis, including an analysis of changes in facts or
circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues or net audit activity.  Such a change in recognition or
measurement would result in the recognition of an additional charge to the tax provision.

Contingent Acquisition Liability

In connection with the Sterimedix Acquisition, we are obligated to make payments to Sterimedix’s previous owners
that are contingent upon gross profit levels. The fair value of the future earn out payments at the acquisition date was
$2.8 million which was determined using a discounted cash flow methodology on probability-weighted expected cash
flows.  Estimates involved a total of estimated payouts ranging from $0 to $5.9 million over the three-year period as
provided in the Sterimedix Acquistion Agreement.  The discount rate used in the calculation was 13.2 percent,
reflecting the risk of the realization and timing of the anticipated cash flows.  The fair value or the obligation is based
on the Company’s estimates of future cash flows, which are contingent upon a number of assumptions, particularly
product demand and pricing.   Any future change required to the fair value of the contingent acquisition liability will
be reflected in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company utilizes FASB ASC Topic 718, “Compensation – Stock Compensation” in accounting for its employee
stock options.  Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award and
is recognized over the directors’ and employees’ requisite service period.  Compensation expense is calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.  Of the inputs into the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the one that can
impact the value of the options the most is the volatility factor.  For awards occurring in fiscal year ended July 31,
2015, the Company has utilized a volatility factor of 65.7 percent in this calculation.  In addition, the Company
utilized an expected average risk-free interest rate of 2.10 to 2.19 percent, an expected average life of 10 years and no
expected dividends.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information about recent accounting pronouncements is included in Note 21 to the consolidated audited financial
statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risks include fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rate variability.

The Company has $11.9 million in cash and cash equivalents with a substantial portion of this cash held in short-term
money market funds bearing interest at 30 basis points. Interest income from these funds is subject to market risk in
the form of fluctuations in interest rates. A reduction in the interest on these funds to 15 basis points would decrease
the amount of interest income from these funds by approximately $18,000.
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The Company currently has a revolving credit facility, an equipment line of credit facility and a term loan facility in
place. The revolving credit facility and the equipment line of credit facility had no outstanding balance at July 31,
2015.  However, the term loan facility had a $2.5 million balance at July 31, 2015. All three facilities bear interest at a
current rate of LIBOR plus 1.75 percent. Interest expense from these credit facilities is subject to market risk in the
form of fluctuations in interest rates. An increase in the interest on the aggregate borrowings of $2.5 million of 50
basis points would increase the amount of interest expense on these funds by approximately $13,000 on an annual
basis.  The Company does not perform any interest rate hedging activities related to these three facilities.

Additionally, the Company has exposure to non-U.S. currency fluctuations through export sales to international
accounts and direct sales from our foreign subsidiaries. Approximately 16.5 percent of our sales revenue is
denominated in non-U.S. currencies.  In a period during which the U.S. dollar is strengthening or weakening as
compared to other currencies, our revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S.
dollars at a lower or higher value than they would be in an otherwise constant currency exchange rate environment. A
two percent change in the Euro, the GBP and the Australian dollar exchange rates would have an approximate
$250,000 impact on our revenues. The Company does not conduct any hedging activities related to non-U.S. currency.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial statements and financial statement schedules specified by this Item, together with the report thereon by
UHY LLP, are filed pursuant to Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information on quarterly results of operations is set forth in Note 20, “Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)” to our
consolidated audited financial statements.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures — We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of July 31, 2015.  Based upon such review and evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the date of such
evaluation to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting — Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.  Our internal control over financial
reporting includes policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations.  Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
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We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission.  This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the
design effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion of this evaluation. 
Based on its evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of July 31, 2015 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 of
the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Management excluded
Sterimedix from the assessment in fiscal 2015 due to Sterimedix being acquired in December 2014.  However,
management expects Sterimedix to be fully integrated into the Company’s control structure by December 31, 2015.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm — This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes an attestation
report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information under the heading, “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I, Item I, “Business” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference. In addition, certain information required by this Item 10
will be included in the Company’s definitive proxy materials to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of
the Company’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “2015 Proxy Statement”) and is
incorporated herein by reference.  The following sections of the 2015 Proxy Statement are herein incorporated by
reference:  “Proposal 1 -- Election of Directors,” information regarding the Audit Committee of the Company included
in the section “Corporate Governance – Audit Committee,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance.”

The Board of Directors has determined that Ms. Juanita Hinshaw, one of the Company’s independent directors,
qualifies as the Audit Committee financial expert because she has served in an oversight role in finance and
accounting.

We have established a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all of the Company’s employees, officers
and directors that is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote honest and ethical conduct and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the Company’s website at
www.synergeticsusa.com and is also available to stockholders in print upon request.  We intend to disclose future
amendments to certain provisions of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or waivers of such provisions granted
to executive officers and directors, on the Company’s website within four business days following the date of such
amendment or waiver.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015, there were no material changes to the procedures by which stockholders may
recommend nominees to the Board.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required pursuant to this Item 11 will be included in the Company’s 2015 Proxy Statement under the
sections “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Change in Control Agreements” and “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
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the section “Principal Stockholders” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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EXISTING EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The table below shows information with respect to all of our equity compensation plans as of July 31, 2015.

Plan Category

Number of
Securities
to be Issued
Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants
and Rights

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants
and Rights

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans(Excluding
Securities
Reflected in the
First Column)

Equity Compensation Plans Approved By Security Holders 1,088,540 $ 4.00 427,427
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved By Security Holders — — —
Total 1,088,540 $ 4.00 427,427

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required pursuant to this Item 13 concerning certain relationships and related transactions, as applicable,
will be included in the Company’s 2015 Proxy Statement under the section “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” and is incorporated herein by reference.  Information required pursuant to this Item 13 concerning
director independence will be included in the Company’s 2015 Proxy Statement under the section “Corporate
Governance – Director Independence” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required pursuant to this Item 14 concerning our principal accountant fees and services will be included in
our 2015 Proxy Statement under the section Proposal 3 – “Ratification of the Appointment of the Company’s
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)The following documents are filed as part of this report.

1.Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and supplemental schedule of Synergetics USA, Inc. and subsidiaries, together
with the report thereon of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, are included following Item
15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  See Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules on
page F-1, herein.

2.Financial Statement Schedules
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Schedule II — Valuation Allowances and Qualifying Accounts is included in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, which are included following Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3.Exhibits

The exhibits required to be filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the attached Index to
Exhibits.

(b)The exhibits filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the attached Index to Exhibits.

(c)None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Synergetics USA, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of July
31, 2015 and 2014 and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended July 31, 2015.  Synergetics USA, Inc.’s
management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended July
31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2015, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commissions (COSO), and our report dated October 13, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion.

/s/ UHY LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
October 13, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Synergetics USA, Inc.

We have audited Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2015,
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Synergetics USA, Inc.’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
in Part II, Item 9A of this Form 10-K. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of July 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries, and our report dated October 13, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ UHY LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
October 13, 2015
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Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
July 31, 2015 and 2014
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

2015 2014
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $11,911 $15,443
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $700 and $722, respectively 13,935 14,641
Inventories 16,696 15,134
Income taxes refundable -- --
Prepaid expenses 1,390 1,223
Deferred income taxes 2,346 2,042
Total current assets 46,278 48,483
Property and Equipment, net 10,519 8,785
Intangible and Other Assets
Goodwill 17,133 12,738
Intangible assets, net 21,572 13,383
Deferred income taxes -- 1,219
Cash value of life insurance 119 107
Total assets $95,621 $84,715
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $4,078 $2,530
Accrued expenses 3,576 2,845
Income taxes payable 193 386
Current maturities of long-term debt 550 --
Deferred revenue 1,288 1,288
Total current liabilities 9,685 7,049
Long-Term Liabilities
Borrowings under term loan facility 1,925 --
Deferred revenue 11,954 13,242
Deferred income taxes 776 --
Contingent acquisition liability 2,839 --
Total long-term liabilities 17,494 13,242
Total liabilities 27,179 20,291
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 12 and 19)
Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock at July 31, 2015 and July 31, 2014, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares
authorized; 25,573,287 and 25,364,608 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 26 25
Additional paid-in capital 29,472 28,594
Retained earnings 40,638 36,160
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,694 ) (355 )
Total stockholders’ equity 68,442 64,424
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $95,621 $84,715

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Years Ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

2015 2014 2013
Net sales $75,019 $64,769 $62,796
Cost of sales 34,802 28,540 30,425
Gross profit 40,217 36,229 32,371
Operating expenses
Research and development 4,261 5,158 3,643
Sales and marketing 15,367 14,360 13,805
Medical device excise tax 487 486 289
Exit costs 719 682 --
General and administrative 13,293 10,962 10,913

34,127 31,648 28,650
Operating income 6,090 4,581 3,721
Other income (expenses)
Investment income 11 10 31
Interest expense (82 ) (19 ) (28 )
Miscellaneous -- (11 ) (35 )

(71 ) (20 ) (32 )
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 6,019 4,561 3,689
Provision for income taxes 1,541 1,498 1,130
Net income $4,478 $3,063 $2,559
Earnings per share:
Basic $0.18 $0.12 $0.10
Diluted $0.18 $0.12 $0.10
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 25,362,166 25,323,622 25,243,010
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 25,449,027 25,393,264 25,337,525
Net income $4,478 $3,063 $2,559
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,339 ) 104 47
Comprehensive income $3,139 $3,167 $2,606

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Number of
Shares

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss) Total

Balance, August 1, 2012 25,160,069 $ 25 $ 26,421 $30,538 $ (506 ) $56,478
Net income -- -- -- 2,559 -- 2,559
Foreign currency translation adjustment -- -- -- -- 47 47
Restricted stock grants 58,272 -- 293 -- -- 293
Stock-based compensation 15,309 -- 638 -- -- 638
Proceeds from stock options Exercised 59,310 -- 65 -- -- 65
Tax benefit associated with stock options
exercised -- -- 72 -- -- 72
Balance, July 31, 2013 25,292,960 $ 25 $ 27,489 $33,097 $ (459 ) $60,152
Net Income -- -- -- 3,063 -- 3,063
Foreign currency translation Adjustment -- -- -- -- 104 104
Restricted stock grants 7,000 -- 426 -- -- 426
Stock-based compensation 14,648 -- 582 -- -- 582
Proceeds from stock options Exercised 50,000 -- 59 -- -- 59
Tax benefit associated with stock options
exercised -- -- 38 -- -- 38
Balance, July 31, 2014 25,364,608 $ 25 $ 28,594 $36,160 $ (355 ) $64,424
Net Income -- -- -- 4,478 -- 4,478
Foreign currency translation Adjustment -- -- -- -- (1,339 ) (1,339 )
Restricted stock grants 172,221 -- 361 -- -- 361
Restricted stock relinquished for tax
payments -- (95 ) -- -- (95 )
Stock-based compensation 13,958 -- 568 -- -- 568
Proceeds from stock options Exercised 22,500 1 28 -- -- 29
Tax benefit associated with stock options
exercised -- -- 16 -- -- 16
Balance, July 31, 2015 25,573,287 $ 26 $ 29,472 $40,638 $ (1,694 ) $68,442

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

57

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

103



Table of Contents
Synergetics USA Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

2015 2014 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $4,478 $3,063 $2,559
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities
Depreciation 1,621 1,173 1,123
Amortization of intangible assets 1,232 876 680
Amortization of deferred financing costs 23 -- --
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 53 338 207
Stock-based compensation 833 1,008 931
Deferred income taxes 94 1,836 (49 )
(Gain) loss on sale of equipment 31 (10 ) 35
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increases) decreases in:
Accounts receivable 640 (406 ) (2,553 )
Inventories 535 179 1,191
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 154 (221 ) (130 )
Income taxes refundable -- 254 (254 )
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 1,105 (849 ) 845
Accrued expenses 602 (667 ) 603
Deferred revenue (1,288 ) (1,288 ) (1,288 )
Income taxes payable (356 ) 380 (235 )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 9,757 5,666 3,665
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds on the sale of equipment 1 18 55
Purchase of property and equipment (1,225 ) (922 ) (550 )
Acquisition of patents and other intangibles (230 ) (258 ) (412 )
Acquisitions, less cash acquired (13,177) (1,387 ) (2,848 )
Increase in cash value of life insurance (12 ) (11 ) (3 )
Net cash used in investing activities (14,643) (2,560 ) (3,758 )
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Deferred financing costs (102 ) -- --
Proceeds from borrowings under the Term Loan Facility 2,750 -- --
Principal payments on long-term debt (275 ) -- --
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of non-qualified stock options 16 38 72
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock 29 59 65
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,418 97 137
Foreign exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents (1,064 ) (230 ) (254 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,532 ) 2,973 (210 )
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning 15,443 12,470 12,680
Ending $11,911 $15,443 $12,470

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
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Cash paid for:
Interest $47 $19 $28
Income taxes (received) paid 1,589 (1,009 ) 1,568
Supplemental Schedule of Non-cash Investing and Financing Activity
Purchase of equipment included in accounts payable 124 17 120

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Synergetics USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of business: Synergetics USA, Inc. (“Synergetics USA” or the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation incorporated
on June 2, 2005, in connection with the reverse merger of Synergetics, Inc. (“Synergetics”) and Valley Forge Scientific
Corp. (“Valley Forge”) and the subsequent reincorporation of Valley Forge (the predecessor to Synergetics USA) in
Delaware. Synergetics USA is a leading supplier of precision surgical devices.  Through continuous improvement and
development of its people, the Company’s mission is to design, manufacture and market innovative surgical devices,
surgical equipment and consumables of the highest quality in order to assist and enable surgeons who perform surgery
around the world to provide a better quality of life for their patients.   The Company’s primary focus is on targeted
segments within the surgical disciplines of ophthalmology and neurosurgery. Its distribution channels include a
combination of direct and independent distributor sales organizations and important strategic alliances with market
leaders. The Company is located in O’Fallon, Missouri, King of Prussia, Pennsylvania, California, Corby and
Redditch, United Kingdom.  During the ordinary course of its business, the Company grants unsecured credit to its
domestic and international customers.

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies follows:

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Synergetics USA and its
wholly owned subsidiaries: Synergetics, Synergetics IP, Inc., Synergetics Development Company, LLC and
Synergetics Delaware, Inc.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Accounts receivable: During the ordinary course of its business, the Company grants unsecured credit to its domestic
and international customers.  Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for
doubtful accounts based on a review of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis.  Collateral is not generally
required on the Company’s accounts receivable.  Accounts receivable are generally considered past due based upon
their specific terms.  Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual
customer receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions. 
Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible.  Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written
off are recorded when received.  The Company generally does not charge interest on past-due amounts in accounts
receivable.  The Company has a history of minimal uncollectible accounts.

Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.  The Company’s cash and cash
equivalents are primarily held in a money market account in a bank and currently exceed the FDIC insurance limit. 
Generally these deposits can be redeemed upon demand and therefore, bear minimal risk.
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Inventories: Inventories, consisting of purchased materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead, are stated at the
lower of cost or market, with cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. The Company’s inventory is
very dynamic and new products are added frequently.  Thus, the Company reviews the valuation of its inventory on a
quarterly basis and determines if a valuation allowance is necessary for items, including any excess quantities and
identified obsolescence.  The Company monitors inventory activity by product type and uses both quantitative and
qualitative factors to access the need for a reserve. The inventory analysis takes into account historical experience, the
inventory’s length of time on hand, historical sales, product life cycle and product obsolescence. To the extent that the
Company determines there are some excess quantities based on its projected levels of sales and other requirements, or
obsolete material in inventory, the Company records a valuation reserve against all or a portion of the value of the
related parts or products. If future cost valuations, future demand or market conditions are different from the
Company’s projections, a change in recorded inventory reserve may be required and would be reflected in cost of sales
in the period the revision is made.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company completed a detailed analysis of its inventory and recorded a
reserve for excess inventory of approximately $1.6 million.  In its continuous effort to manage its inventory, the
Company had previously conducted an inventory analysis of obsolete inventory and recorded a provision for same in
the third quarter of fiscal 2012.   The reserve was necessary to reflect not only the Company’s changing base
ophthalmic business but also to reflect the appropriate level and mix identified in accordance with the Company’s
continuous improvement methodology with respect to its inventory

Property and equipment: Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Useful
lives
(in
years)

Building and improvements 7-39
Machinery and equipment 5-7
Furniture and fixtures 5-7
Software 3-10

Goodwill and other intangibles: Absent any impairment indicators, goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual
basis.  The Company performs its goodwill impairment tests during the fourth fiscal quarter.  The Company has
adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: 
Testing Goodwill for Impairment” and ASU No. 2012-12, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other:  Testing Indefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairment,” which permits the Company to assess qualitative factors to determine whether the
existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that goodwill and other
intangibles have been impaired.  The Company has determined, based upon an assessment of qualitative factors, that it
is more likely than not that goodwill and other intangibles have not been impaired and no further testing was
performed as of July 31, 2015.  Other intangible assets, consisting of proprietary know-how, trademarks, tradenames,
licensing agreements, patents and other intangibles, are amortized to operations under the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives or statutory lives, whichever is shorter.  These periods range from three to fifteen years. 
The life of a trademark and tradename is inextricably related to the life of the product bearing the mark or the life of
the business entity owning the trademark or tradename.  The Company intends to use the Malis® trademark and the
Sterimedix tradename indefinitely, and therefore, their useful lives are not limited to any specific product. The
trademark and tradename constitute indefinite-lived intangibles that will be used in perpetuity.  Proprietary know-how
consists of the patented technology which is included in the Company’s core product lines, bipolar electrosurgical
generators. The Company also recorded intangible assets related to proprietary know-how and customer relationships
in relation to its three recent acquisitions. Proprietary technology and expertise are distinguishing features of the
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Company’s products and represent a valuable intangible asset.

Patents: Incremental legal and other costs to obtain the patent are capitalized to a patent asset.  Salaries, benefits and
other direct costs of product development are expensed as operating expenses in research and development (“R&D”)
costs.  Patents are amortized to operations under the straight-line method over the remaining statutory life of the
patent.
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Deferred revenue: On April 23, 2010, the Company entered into a Settlement and License Agreement with Alcon, Inc.
(“Alcon”)  pursuant to which Alcon paid to the Company $32.0 million. The net proceeds to the Company were $21.4
million after contingency payments to attorneys. The Company recognized a gain from this agreement of $2.4 million
in the third quarter of fiscal 2010. The remaining $19.0 million has been accounted for as an up-front license fee under
the Confidential Settlement and License Agreement and was deferred and recognized as earned over a period
estimated to be 15 years based upon estimated shipments to Alcon under a related Supply Agreement.  On February
13, 2012, Alcon informed the Company that it had decided to cancel the project, orders and forecasts covering the two
products to have been supplied under the Supply Agreement. However, the Supply Agreement remains in effect and
the Company has continuing performance obligations associated with the Supply Agreement. Therefore, the Company
plans to recognize the remaining deferred revenue associated with the Supply Agreement ratably over the next 11
years which is the remaining life of the patents and associated Supply Agreement. The Company recognized $1.3
million of this deferred revenue in each of the fiscal years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

July 31,
2015

July 31,
2014

Deferred revenue – Alcon settlement $13,242 $14,530
Less:  Short-term 1,288 1,288
Long-term portion $11,954 $13,242

Impairment of long-lived assets (excluding goodwill and other intangibles): The Company reviews long-lived assets
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  Measurement of an impairment loss for
long-lived assets and certain identifiable assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of
the asset.  Assets to be sold are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs to sell.

Product warranty: The Company provides a warranty against manufacturing and workmanship defects. Under the
Company’s general terms and conditions of sale, liability during the warranty period (typically three years) is limited
to repair or replacement of the defective item. The Company’s warranty cost is not material.

Income taxes: The Company accounts for income taxes under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740,
“Income Taxes” (“ASC Topic 740”).  Under ASC Topic 740, the deferred tax provision is determined using the liability
method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and operating loss, tax credit
carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences.  Temporary differences
are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  Deferred tax assets are
reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of
changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

In addition, under ASC Topic 740, the Company may recognize tax liabilities when, despite the Company’s belief that
its tax return positions are supported, the Company believes that certain positions may not be fully sustained upon
review by tax authorities.  The Company has identified no uncertain tax positions subsequent to the adoption of this
standard on August 1, 2007.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties through income tax expense.  As of July 31, 2015, the
2012 to 2014 tax years remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions.  There were no federal income tax
audits in process as of July 31, 2015. There is one state and one international audit currently in progress.

Fair value of financial instruments: The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, contingent acquisition liability and borrowings.  As of July
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receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.
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Non-financial assets such as goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value
when there is an indicator of impairment and recorded at fair value only when impairment is recognized.  No
impairment indicators existed as of July 31, 2015.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between (1)
market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources (observable
inputs) and (2) an entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs).  The fair value hierarchy consists of these broad
levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).  The Company’s Level 1 financial assets are money
market funds, whose fair values are based on quoted market prices.

As of July 31, 2015, the Company’s contingent acquisition liability is presented on the balance sheet at fair value.  The
liability is categorized as Level 3, as the fair value is based on a discounted cash flow methodology using Company
estimates of the amount and timing of gross profit to be earned from the Sterimedix Acquisition.  See further
discussion of the calculation in Note 3, “Acquisitions.”  Any future change required to the contingent acquisition
liability will be reflected in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.

Foreign currency translation:  All balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date.  Statement of income amounts have been translated using the average exchange rate for the year. 
The gains and losses resulting from the changes in exchange rates from year to year have been reported in other
comprehensive income (loss).  The foreign currency translation adjustment is the only component of accumulated
other comprehensive loss.  Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude income tax expense (benefit) given that
the Company’s investments in foreign subsidiaries are deemed to be reinvested for an indefinite period of time.

Revenue recognition: The Company primarily records revenue from product sales when the revenue is realized and
the product is shipped from its facilities.  This includes satisfying the following criteria: the arrangement with the
customer is evident, usually through the receipt of a purchase order; the sales price is fixed and determinable; delivery
to the carrier has occurred; and collectability is reasonably assured. Freight and insurance billed to customers is
included in net sales, and the cost of freight and insurance is included in cost of sales.  Sales tax billed to customers is
included as a liability as products are shipped.

The terms and conditions of sales to both the Company’s domestic and international distributors do not differ
materially from the terms and conditions of sales to its domestic and international end-user customers.

Service revenue substantially relates to repairs of products and is recognized when the service has been completed. 
Revenue from royalty fees is recorded as the products bearing the trademark are shipped.

Advertising: The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. Advertising
expense was approximately $278,000, $197,000 and $146,000 for the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Royalties: The Company pays royalties to doctors and medical institutions for providing assistance in the design and
development of various devices and components.  Royalties are paid quarterly based on the sales of the instrument or
components.  Royalty expense was approximately $348,000, $346,000 and $331,000 for the years ended July 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Stock compensation: The Company has a stock plan for employees and consultants allowing for the grant of incentive
and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock and stock awards. In addition, the Company has a stock option plan
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for non-employee directors allowing for non-qualified stock options.  Options under this plan have been granted to all
non-employee directors.  Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the
award, and is recognized over the directors’ and employees’ requisite service periods. The Company uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and grant-date market value to
determine the fair value of the restricted stock awards.
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Earnings per share: Basic earnings per share data has been computed on the basis of the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during each period presented.  Diluted earnings per share data has been computed on the
basis of the assumed conversion, exercise or issuance of all potential common stock instruments, unless the effect is to
reduce the loss or increase the net income per common share (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 2013

Basic weighted average common shares 25,362,166 25,323,622 25,243,010
Stock options 86,861 69,642 94,515
Dilutive weighted average common shares 25,449,027 25,393,264 25,337,525

Stock option shares of 435,957, 650,579 and 533,079 were excluded from computation of weighted average diluted
shares because the effect would be antidilutive for the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Segment reporting: Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker or group in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance.  The Company’s chief decision maker reviews the results of operations and
requests for capital expenditures based on one industry segment: producing and selling products and procedures for
surgery, primarily for vitreoretinal surgery and neurosurgery.  The Company’s entire revenue is generated through this
segment.  Revenues are attributed to countries based upon the location of end-user customers or distributors.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

Note 2. Exit Costs

    On October 1, 2013, the Company announced plans to close its King of Prussia, Pennsylvania facility and
consolidate the manufacturing operations into its existing facility in O’Fallon, Missouri. The Company concluded
manufacturing at this facility in February 2015. Costs are recognized in “Exit costs” in the consolidated statements of
income and comprehensive income.  As of July 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had a current liability of $0 and
$112,000, respectively, for employee termination benefits in accrued expenses.

(dollars in thousands)

Twelve
Months
Ended July
31,

Cumulative
as of
July 31,
2015

Total
Expected
 to be
Incurred2015 2014

Employee termination costs $304 $615 $ 919 $ 919
Other associated costs 415 67 482 482

$719 $682 $ 1,401 $ 1,401

Termination
Costs

Exit liabilities at August 1, 2013 $ --
Additions 682
Payments/settlements (570 )
Exit liabilities at July 31, 2014 $ 112
Additions 126
Payments/settlements (238 )
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63

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

114



Table of Contents
Note 3. Acquisitions

On December 10, 2014, the Company entered into the Share Purchase Agreement (the "Sterimedix Acquisition
Agreement") with shareholders (the "Sellers") of Sterimedix Limited ("Sterimedix"), a private manufacturer of
cannulas, needles and other disposable products for ophthalmic and aesthetic procedures incorporated in England and
Wales.  Pursuant to the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement, the Company purchased all of the outstanding share
capital of Sterimedix for net cash consideration of $13.2 million (the "Sterimedix Acquisition") plus future contingent
consideration in the form of an earn-out (see discussion below).

Pursuant to the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement, the Sellers are entitled to receive earn-out payments, calculated as
136.7% of the amount by which Sterimedix’s defined gross profit exceeds the following amounts for each annual
period:

(i)£3,190,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015;
(ii)£3,767,500 for the year ended December 31, 2016; and
(iii)£4,400,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The fair value of the future earn out payments recorded at the acquisition date was $2.8 million, determined using a
discounted cash flow methodology on probability-weighted expected cash flows.  These cash flows resulted in a range
of estimated payouts of $0 to $5.9 million over the three-year period.   The fair value of the obligation is based on the
Company’s estimates of future cash flows, which are contingent upon a number of assumptions, particularly product
demand and pricing.   Any future change required to the fair value of the contingent acquisition liability will be
reflected in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income.

The Company has agreed not to transfer the Sterimedix shares for a period of one year and has also agreed after the
one-year period, (i) to negotiate in good faith the assumption of the earn-out payments with the proposed transferee;
(ii) at the discretion of the Company, to make modified earn-out payments to the Sellers as set forth in the Agreement
and transfer certain Sterimedix assets to the Sellers upon arms' length negotiations; or (iii) if option (i) does not occur
and option (ii) is not exercised, to remain obligated to pay the earn-out payments.

The amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of December 10, 2014 are set forth below at the
exchange rate in effect at that date (dollars in thousands):

Accounts receivable $715
Inventory 1,617
Other current assets 138
Property, plant and equipment 2,187
In-process R&D 343
Tradenames 2,894
Customer relationships 4,999
Other amortizable intangibles 1,026
Goodwill 4,519
Total assets $18,438

Current liabilities $827
Deferred tax liabilities 1,597
Total liabilities $2,424

Net assets acquired $16,014
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unrecognized intangible assets, including workforce-in-place and future new product development potential.
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During the period from December 10, 2014 through July 31, 2015, Sterimedix recognized net sales of $5.7 million
and generated net income of approximately $851,000.  For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, the Company incurred
$341,000 in acquisition-related costs, which are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income.

The accompanying consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015 reflect the revenues and
expenses of Sterimedix since the acquisition date.  The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial
information is presented as if the Sterimedix Acquisition had occurred at the beginning of each year presented.  These
unaudited pro forma results  are provided for illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of either the
historical results that would have been attained if this acquisition had actually occurred during these periods, or of the
results that will be attained in the future as a result of this acquisition (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended
July 31,

Pro Forma (unaudited) 2015 2014
Net Sales $77,629 $70,208
Net Income $4,888 $2,579
Basic earnings per share $0.19 $0.10
Diluted earnings per share $0.19 $0.10

On May 3, 2014, the Company acquired a private original equipment manufacturing company incorporated in the
United States for net cash consideration of $1.4 million, resulting in the recognition of $0.8 million of intellectual
property and $0.4 million of goodwill, including the impact of deferred income taxes.  The results of operations for
the acquired company have been included in the consolidated statement of income from the date of acquisition.

On July 8, 2013, the Company acquired M.I.S.S. Ophthalmics Limited (“M.I.S.S.”), a private company incorporated in
England and Wales that had been the Company’s distributor of ophthalmic products in the United Kingdom, for net
cash consideration of $2.8 million.  M.I.S.S.’s wholesale distribution activities contributed approximately $1.1 million
in revenue to the Company in fiscal 2013.

The Company allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition resulting in the recognition of $0.9 million of intellectual
property and $1.5 million of goodwill.  The results of operations for M.I.S.S. have been included in the consolidated
statement of income from the date of acquisition.

The Company recognized $64,000 and $70,000 of transaction related costs that were expensed in the years ended July
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  Acquired goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Note 4. OEM Partner Agreements

The Company sells all of its generators and a majority of its neurosurgery instruments and accessories to two U.S.
based national and international OEM partners as described below:

Codman

In the neurosurgical market, the bipolar electrosurgical system manufactured by Valley Forge prior to the merger has
been sold for over 30 years through a series of distribution agreements with Codman, an affiliate of Johnson &
Johnson.  On April 2, 2009, the Company executed a new, three-year distribution agreement with Codman for the
continued distribution by Codman of certain bipolar generators and related disposables and accessories, effective
January 1, 2009.  In addition, the Company entered into a new, three-year license agreement, which provides for the
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continued licensing of the Company’s Malis® trademark to Codman for use with certain Codman products, including
those covered by the distribution agreement.  Both agreements expired on December 31, 2011 and have renewed for
three years.  In December 2010, Codman elected to exercise its option of exclusive distribution with respect to the
bipolar generators and related disposables and accessories in the fields of neurocranial and neurospinal surgery.  On
December 16, 2014, the Company executed an amendment to the agreements effective as of December 9, 2014.  The
amendment extends the terms of the agreements until December 31, 2015.  All other provisions remain unchanged.
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On November 16, 2009, the Company announced the signing of an addendum to its three-year agreement with
Codman.  Under the terms of the revised agreement, Codman has the exclusive right to market and distribute the
Company’s Malis® branded disposable bipolar forceps produced by Synergetics.  Codman began distribution of the
disposable bipolar forceps on December 1, 2009, domestically, and on February 1, 2010, internationally.

Total sales to Codman and its respective percent of the Company’s net sales for the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, including the historical sales of generators, accessories and disposable cord tubing that the Company has
supplied in the past, as well as the disposable bipolar forceps sales resulting from the addendum to the existing
distribution agreement, were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net sales $17,323 $15,173 $14,097
Percent of net sales 23.1 % 23.4 % 22.4 %

Stryker Corporation (“Stryker”)

The Company supplies a multi-channel ablation generator, used for minimally invasive pain treatment, to Stryker
pursuant to a supply and distribution agreement dated as of October 25, 2004, as amended.  The agreement expired on
June 30, 2015.

On March 31, 2010, the Company entered into a supply agreement with Stryker pursuant to which the Company
agreed to supply Stryker with disposable ultrasonic aspirator instrument tips and certain other consumable products
used in conjunction with Stryker’s ultrasonic aspirator console and handpieces.  The agreement expires on March 31,
2019.

Total sales to Stryker and its respective percent of the Company’s net sales for the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013, including the historical sales of pain control generators, and accessories that the Company has supplied in the
past, as well as the disposable ultrasonic aspirator instrument tips sales and certain other consumable products
resulting from the new agreements, were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net sales $13,507 $10,779 $10,815
Percent of net sales 18.0 % 16.6 % 17.2 %

No other customer comprises more than 10 percent of sales in any given year.

Note 5. Fair Value Information

For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, contingent acquisition liability and borrowings, the carrying amounts approximate their
fair values due to their short maturities. ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” requires
disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments held by the Company. ASC Topic 825, “Financial Instruments,”
defines fair value, and establishes a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosures of fair value measurement that
enhances disclosure requirements for fair value measures. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for
receivables, current liabilities and borrowings under the credit facilities each qualify as financial instruments and are a
reasonable estimate of their fair values because of the short period of time between the origination of such instruments
and their expected realization and their current market rate of interest. The three levels of valuation hierarchy are
defined as follows:
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Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets,
and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the
financial instrument.

Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The Company’s cash and financial instruments, and outstanding debt balances approximate their fair value.

As of July 31, 2015 the contingent acquisition liability is presented on the balance sheet at fair value.  See further
discussion in Note 3, “Acquisitions”.

Non-financial assets such as goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value
when there is an indicator of impairment or when tested for impairment at least annually and recorded at fair value
only when impairment is recognized. No impairment indicators existed as of July 31, 2015.

Note 6. Inventories

Inventories as of July 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2015 2014
Raw material and component parts $7,909 $5,900
Work in progress 2,248 2,077
Finished goods 6,539 7,157

$16,696 $15,134

Note 7. Property and Equipment

     Property and equipment as of July 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2015 2014
Land $1,488 $984
Building and improvements 6,912 6,650
Machinery and equipment 10,940 9,023
Furniture and fixtures 1,703 1,182
Software 1,132 1,113
Construction in progress 212 153

22,387 19,105
Less accumulated depreciation 11,868 10,320

$10,519 $8,785

Depreciation expense is included in both cost of sales, selling and general and administrative expenses. 
Approximately 25% of our long-lived assets are outside of the United States.  Depreciation expense for the years
ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $1.6 million, $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

Note 8. Goodwill

Goodwill as of July 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

July 31,
2015

July 31,
2014
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Reverse merger (September 21, 2005) $10,660 $10,660
M.I.S.S. (July 8, 2013) 1,511 1,639
Sterimedix (December 10, 2014) 4,523 --
Other 439 439

$17,133 $12,738
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Note 9. Other Intangible Assets

Information regarding the Company’s intangible assets is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net

July 31, 2015
Proprietary know-how $4,208 $ 2,555 $1,653
Trademarks 5,950 -- 5,950
Tradenames 3,309 83 3,226
Licensing agreements 5,694 3,165 2,529
Patents 2,599 1,171 1,428
Other intangibles 7,147 361 6,786

$28,907 $ 7,335 $21,572

July 31, 2014
Proprietary know-how $4,208 $2,208 $2,000
Trademarks 5,944 -- 5,944
Licensing agreements 5,694 2,895 2,799
Patents 2,375 903 1,472
Other intangibles 1,279 111 1,168

$19,500 $6,117 $13,383

 See Note 3 related to intangible assets acquired in the Sterimedix Acquisition.

Amortization is included in general and administrative expense and was $1,232,000, $876,000 and $680,000 for the
years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  Amortization for the next five years is expected to
approximate $1.4 million annually.

Note 10. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses as of July 31, 2015 and 2014 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

2015 2014
Payroll, commissions and employee benefits $2,337 $1,402
Operations/services 959 832
Taxes other than income 280 611

$3,576 $2,845

Note 11. Debt

Revolving Credit Facility: The Company has a credit facility with a bank which allows for borrowings of up to $9.5
million.  There were no borrowings under this facility at July 31, 2015.

Equipment Line of Credit: Under this credit facility, the Company may borrow up to $1.0 million.  There were no
borrowings under this facility at July 31, 2015.

Term Loan Facility:  The Company has a credit facility with a bank which allows for borrowings of up to $13.0
million with $6.5 million restricted for earn-out payments required under the Sterimedix Acquisition Agreement. The

Edgar Filing: SYNERGETICS USA INC - Form 10-K

123



Company borrowed $2.75 million under this facility to fund, in-part, the Sterimedix Acquisition, $2.5 million of
which remained outstanding at July 31, 2015. The advances under the term loan are amortized quarterly over five
years.  Payments in fiscal 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 will be $550,000 with the final payment of $275,000 due in
2020.

These facilities bear interest based on either the one-, two- or three-month LIBOR plus 1.75 percent and adjusting
each quarter based upon our total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA).  As
of July 31, 2015, interest under the facilities was 1.93 percent.  The unused portion of the facilities is charged at a rate
of 0.20 percent.  The termination date of the facilities is February 28, 2018.  The facilities are collateralized by
substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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These facilities have two financial covenants: a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.25 times and a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25 times. The facilities restrict the payment of dividends if, following the distribution,
the fixed charge coverage ratio would fall below the required minimum. The Company was in compliance with its
covenants as of July 31, 2015.

Note 12. Operating Leases

The Company leases various equipment, a portion of its facilities in O’Fallon, Missouri, the facility in California and
the facility in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania under operating leases.  The O’Fallon, Missouri lease expires in February
2016, the California lease expires in November 2017 and the King of Prussia, Pennsylvania lease expires in October
2015.

The approximate minimum rental commitment under non-cancelable operating leases as of July 31, 2015 is due as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending July 31, Amount
2016 $ 267
2017 122
2018 67
2019 41
2020 10

$ 507

Rent expense incurred and charged to cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses was
approximately $491,000, $457,000 and $364,000 for the years ended July 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Note 13. Income Tax Matters

     The Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries file as a single entity for income tax reporting purposes.  The net
deferred income tax amounts included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2015 and 2014
include the following amounts as deferred income tax assets and liabilities (dollars in thousands):

2015 2014
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable $192 $204
Inventories 1,111 1,002
Accrued liabilities 201 173
Deferred revenue 4,879 5,456
Other 465 172
Loss on foreign subsidiaries 2,370 1,720
Valuation allowance (2,370) (1,720)

6,848 7,007
Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment 986 960
Other intangible assets 4,292 2,786

5,278 3,746
$1,570 $3,261

The Company recorded a valuation allowance of the losses of its foreign subsidiaries in conjunction with its overall
income tax strategy including the inclusion of its foreign losses on its U.S. tax return.
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The deferred tax amounts noted above have been classified on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of
July 31, 2015 and 2014, as follows (dollars in thousands):

2015 2014
Current assets $2,346 $2,042
Long-term asset 1,219
Long-term liability (776 ) --

$1,570 $3,261

The provision for income taxes for the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following (dollars
in thousands):

2015 2014 2013
Current (receivable) payable $1,447 $(338 ) $1,179
Deferred 94 1,836 (49 )

$1,541 $1,498 $1,130

Reconciliation of the Company’s income tax at the statutory rate to the Company’s effective rate is as follows:

2015 2014 2013
Computed at the statutory rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1.8 2.4 2.5
Foreign rate differential (4.2 ) (3.2 ) --
Production deduction for domestic manufacturers (2.7 ) (2.0 ) (4.3 )
State tax settlement (3.7 ) -- --
Research and experimentation (1.7 ) (1.6 ) (5.3 )
Other 2.1 3.2 3.7

25.6% 32.8% 30.6%

Note 14. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan, which covers employees who have attained the age of 18 and who have been
credited with at least one year of service.  Company contributions are made at the discretion of the Board of
Directors.  The Company contributed $163,000, $120,000 and $203,000 to the plan for the years ended July 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013.

Note 15. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock Plans

In addition to the historical options outstanding for Synergetics prior to the merger, the Company has options
outstanding under two existing active option plans and two terminated plans of Valley Forge.  Under the Amended
and Restated Synergetics USA, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan (the “2001 Plan”), 2,000,000 shares of common stock are
authorized for issuance to employees, officers and consultants of the Company.  There were 167,427 options and
restricted shares available for award at July 31, 2015 under the 2001 Plan.  Pursuant to the Amended and Restated
Synergetics USA, Inc. 2005 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended (the “Non-Employee Directors’
Stock Option Plan”), 700,000 shares of common stock are authorized for issuance to non-employee directors.  There
were 260,000 options available for future grants at July 31, 2015 under the Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option
Plan.  Generally, options are granted with an exercise price equal to market value at the date of grant and expire ten
years from the date of the grant.  Generally, stock options granted under these plans vest over a three to five-year
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period, with the exception of the non-employee director options, which vest over a 12-month period. In conjunction
with the Company’s annual review of its long-term incentive compensation plan, options to purchase 300,000 shares of
common stock and 200,000 shares of restricted stock were granted during the second quarter of fiscal 2015 that vest
when the Company achieves $100 million of sales for an annual period.
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Stock Options

A summary of the status of the fixed awards at July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and changes during the years ended on
those dates is as follows:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Options outstanding, August1, 2012 679,745 $ 3.80
Granted 142,227 $ 4.52
Forfeited (15,000 ) $ 4.54
Exercised (59,310 ) $ 1.10
Options outstanding, July 31, 2013 747,662 $ 3.23
Granted 117,500 $ 3.64
Forfeited -- --
Exercised (50,000 ) $ 1.17
Options outstanding July 31, 2014 815,162 $ 4.25
Granted 353,000 $ 3.49
Forfeited (57,122 ) $ 5.38
Exercised (22,500 ) $ 1.27
Options outstanding July 31, 2015 1,088,540 $ 4.00

Options exercisable, July 31, 2015 624,455 $ 4.06

A summary of the unvested awards outstanding at July 31, 2015 is as follows:

Shares
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Unvested options, beginning of period 232,863 $ 3.50
Granted 353,000 $ 2.56
Vested (121,778 ) $ 2.92
Unvested options, period end 464,085 $ 2.91

Proceeds, related tax benefits realized from options exercised and the intrinsic value of options exercised were as
follows (dollars in thousands), except exercise price:

Fiscal Year Ended
July
31,
2015

July
31,
2014

July
31,
2013

Proceeds of options exercised $29 $ 59 $ 65
Related tax benefit recognized 16 38 72
Intrinsic value of options exercised 23 48 56

The following table provides information about options outstanding and exercisable options at July 31, 2015 (dollars
in thousands):

Options Exercisable
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Outstanding Options
Aggregate intrinsic value $ 3,312 $ 1,959
Weighted average contractual term 6.8 years 5.3 years

The weighted average remaining life for options outstanding and weighted average exercise price per share for
exercisable options at July 31, 2015 were as follows:

Options Outstanding Exercisable Options

Shares
Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Life (in years) Shares

Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Life (in years)

<$ 2.00 102,083  4.0 years 102,083  4.0 Years
$2.01 to
$3.00 40,000  2.3 years 40,000  2.3 Years
$3.01 to
$4.00 497,500  8.5 years 144,377  6.7 Years
$4.01 to
$5.00 229,813  5.7 years 186,307  5.4 Years
$5.01 to
$6.21 219,144  6.0 years 151,689  5.5 Years
Total 1,088,540  6.8 years 624,455  5.3 Years
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The following table provides the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model:

Fiscal Year Ended
July 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected average risk-free interest rate

2.10
to
2.19 % 2.90% 1.72%

Expected average life (in years) 10 10 10
Expected volatility 65.7% 68.6% 70.5%
Expected dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0 %

The expected average risk-free rate is based on 10-year U.S. treasury yield curve in December of 2014.  The expected
average life represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to
vesting schedules, historical exercise and forfeiture patterns.  Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of
the Company’s common stock.  The expected dividend yield is based on historical information and management’s plan.

Restricted Stock

Under the Company’s 2001 Plan, the Company’s common stock may be granted at no cost to certain employees and
consultants of the Company.  Certain plan participants are entitled to cash dividends and voting rights for their
respective shares.  Restrictions limit the sale or transfer of these shares during a vesting period whereby the
restrictions lapse either pro-ratably over a three-year or five-year vesting period or at the end of the third or fifth year. 
These shares also vest upon a change of control event.  Upon issuance of stock under the 2001 Plan, unearned
compensation equivalent to the market value at the date of the grant is charged to stockholders’ equity and
subsequently amortized to expense over the applicable restriction period.

The following table provides information about restricted stock awards during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013:

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value

Balance as of August 1, 2012 431,778 $ 3.82
Granted 70,307 $ 4.52
Forfeited (10,160 ) $ 3.47
Vested (86,677 ) $ 4.57
Balance as of July 31, 2013 405,248 $ 3.79
Granted 7,000 $ 3.38
Forfeited (2,335 ) $ 3.88
Vested (134,366 ) $ 4.52
Balance as of July 31, 2014 275,547 $ 3.42
Granted 208,000 $ 3.43
Forfeited (4,334 ) $ 4.27
Vested (189,399 ) $ 2.47
Balance as of July 31, 2015 289,814 $ 4.04
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Compensation expense associated with stock-based compensation plans as of July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was as
follows (dollars in thousands):

July
31,
2015

July
31,
2014

July
31,
2013

Stock Options:
Directors $133 $163 $230
Employees 380 364 233
Total $513 $527 $463
Restricted Stock
Employees $361 $426 $413
Advisors 55 55 55
Total 416 481 468
Total Compensation Expense $929 $1,008 $931
Income Tax benefits from Share-based Compensation $238 $331 $285
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As a result of the cessation of production at the King of Prussia facility and resulting acceleration of vesting of stock
compensation, $201,000 of this compensation expense is included in Exit Costs for the fiscal year ended July 31,
2014.

As of July 31, 2015, there was approximately $2.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Company’s 2001 Plan to be recognized as
follows: $904,000 in fiscal 2016, $605,000 in fiscal 2017, $411,000 in fiscal 2018 and $82,000 in fiscal 2019.

Note 16. Stockholders’ Equity

Upon completion of the reverse merger between Valley Forge and Synergetics on September 22, 2005, the Company
reincorporated in Delaware, decreased the par value of common stock from $0.01 2/3 to $0.001, increased the
authorized common shares to 50,000,000 and eliminated the outstanding treasury shares.

The holders of common stock have no preemptive rights and the common stock has no redemption, sinking fund or
conversion provisions.  Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on any matter submitted to the holders and
to equal rights in the assets of the Company upon liquidation.  All of the outstanding shares of common stock are fully
paid and nonassessable.

In addition to shares issued under employee and director compensation plans, 13,958 shares were granted to advisory
consultants under the 2001 Plan during the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015.

Note 17. Research and Development Costs

R&D costs related to both future and present products are charged to operations as incurred.  The Company incurred
approximately $4.3 million, $5.2 million and $3.6 million of R&D costs during the years ended July 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively.

Note 18. Enterprise-wide Sales Information

The Company reviewed its sales presentation once it had completed the Sterimedix Acquisition and determined that a
more comprehensive approach to its ophthalmic and neurosurgery sales is now required to more completely describe
its revenues by market as compared to its method of distribution.  The enterprise-wide sales presentation shown below
incorporates both the revised presentation and the previous presentation for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively:

Enterprise-wide sales information as of July 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following (dollars in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,
2015 2014 2013

Presentation based upon market
Net Sales
Ophthalmic (1) $41,976 $37,433 $36,348
Neurosurgery (2) 31,694 26,844 25,834
Other (3) 1,349 492 614

$75,019 $64,769 $62,796
Presentation based upon distribution
Net Sales
Ophthalmic (4) $33,509 $35,242 $35,446
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OEM (5) 40,678 28,671 26,469
Other (6) 832 856 881
Total $75,019 $64,769 $62,796
Net Sales
Domestic $52,530 $47,794 $46,489
International 22,489 16,975 16,307
Total $75,019 $64,769 $62,796
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(1)
Net sales from Ophthalmic represent all sales of ophthalmic devices from direct sales representatives, distribution
partners and OEMs.  Recognition of deferred revenue of $1.3 million from Alcon is included in this category for
the fiscal years ended 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(2)

Net sales from Neurosurgery represent sales of electrosurgery generators, disposable bipolar forceps and related
accessories and royalties from Codman, multi-channel generators, disposable ultrasonic tips and related accessories
to Stryker and certain neurosurgery disposables sold through distribution.  Many of the products that the Company
sells to its neurosurgery OEM customers are shipped to their non-U.S. customers in various countries around the
world, but are included in the Company’s domestic revenues.

(3)Other net sales represent all sales of aesthetic devices and other miscellaneous revenues.

(4)Net sales from Ophthalmic represent sales of ophthalmic devices from direct sales representatives and distributionpartners.

(5)

Net sales from OEM represent sales of electrosurgery generators, disposable bipolar forceps and related
accessories and royalties from Codman, multi-channel generators, disposable ultrasonic tips and related accessories
to Stryker and sales of certain disposable products.  Recognition of deferred revenues of $1.3 million from Alcon is
included in this category for the fiscal years ended 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  Many of the products that
the Company sells to its neurosurgery OEM customers are shipped to their non-U.S. customers in various countries
around the world, but are included in the Company’s domestic revenues.

(6)Other net sales represent direct neurosurgery revenues and other miscellaneous revenues.

Note 19. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has entered into change of control agreements with each of its President and Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Domestic Sales and Vice President of Marketing and Technology.  The
change in control agreements with its executive officers provide that if employment is terminated within one year for
cause or disability following a change in control (as each term is defined in the change in control agreements), as a
result of the officers’ death, or by the officer other than as an involuntary termination (as defined in the change in
control agreements), the Company shall pay the officer all compensation earned or accrued through his or her
employment termination date, including (i) base salary; (ii) reimbursement for reasonable and necessary expenses;
(iii) vacation pay; (iv) bonuses and incentive compensation; and (v) all other amounts to which they are entitled under
any compensation or benefit plan of the Company (“Standard Compensation Due”).

If the officer’s employment is terminated within one year following a change in control without cause and for any
reason other than death or disability, including an involuntary termination, and provided the officer enters into a
separation agreement within 30 days of his or her employment termination, he or she  shall receive the following: (i)
all Standard Compensation Due and any amount payable as of the termination date under the Company’s
objectives-based incentive plan, the sum of which shall be paid in a lump sum immediately upon such termination;
and (ii) an amount equal to one times his or her annual base salary at the rate in effect immediately prior to the change
in control, to be paid in 12 equal monthly installments beginning in the month following his or her employment
termination. Furthermore, all of the officer’s awards of shares or options shall immediately vest and be exercisable for
one year after the date of his or her employment termination.
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Various claims, incidental to the ordinary course of business, are pending against the Company.  In the opinion of
management, after consultation with legal counsel, resolution of these matters is not expected to have a material effect
on the accompanying financial statements.

The Company is subject to regulatory requirements throughout the world. In the normal course of business, regulatory
agencies may require companies in the medical industry to change their products or operating procedures, which could
affect the Company.  The Company regularly incurs expenses to comply with these regulations and may be required to
incur additional expenses.  Management is not able to estimate any additional expenditures outside the normal course
of operations which will be incurred by the Company in future periods in order to comply with these regulations.

Note 20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table provides the Company’s quarterly information as presented in the Form 10-Q (dollars in thousands
except share and per share data):

Quarters ended: July 31,
2015*

April 30,
2015*

January 31,
2015*

October 31,
2014

Net sales $20,809 $19,375 $18,189 $16,646
Gross profit 11,258 10,105 9,584 9,270
Operating income 1,966 1,769 1,198 1,157
Net income 1,529 1,229 952 768
Earnings per share - basic $0.06 $0.05 $0.04 $0.03
Earnings per share - diluted $0.06 $0.05 $0.04 $0.03
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 25,372,653 25,371,764 25,364,574 25,339,983
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 25,505,648 25,476,336 25,424,835 25,390,181

Quarters ended: July 31,
2014**

April 30,
2014

January 31,
2014

October 31,
2013

Net sales $18,008 $16,135 $15,096 $15,530
Gross profit 9,995 8,912 8,398 8,924
Operating income 2,156 1,411 (377 ) 1,391
Net income 1,410 943 (225 ) 935
Earnings per share – basic $0.06 $0.04 $(0.01 ) $0.04
Earnings per share – diluted $0.06 $0.04 $(0.01 ) $0.04
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 25,352,326 25,331,925 25,309,641 25,294,020
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 25,400,341 25,392,782 25,309,641 25,389,940

*           The results of Sterimedix are reflected in our results of operations since December 10, 2014, the date of
acquisition and reflect the following:

Net sales $2,342 $2,266 $1,066
Net income $517 $320 $14

**        The results of the private OEM Company have been reflected in our results of operations since May 3, 2014,
the date of the acquisition.

Note 21. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that provides explicit guidance on the recognition of
revenue based upon the entity’s contracts with customers to transfer goods or services.  Under the new standard update,
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reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  This
accounting standard update will be effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2019.  The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2014, the FASB issued guidance clarifying that share-based compensation performance targets that could be
achieved after the requisite service period should be treated as a performance condition that affects vesting, rather than
a condition that affects the grant-date fair value of the award.  This guidance is effective for the Company in the first
quarter of fiscal 2017, with early adoption permitted.  The adoption of the pronouncement may affect the Company’s
presentation of future performance-based stock compensation awards.

In August 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that provides explicit guidance on whether there is
substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  Before the issuance of this update, there was
no guidance in U.S. GAAP about management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern or to provide related footnote disclosures. This guidance is expected to
reduce the diversity in the timing and content of footnote disclosures. The guidance requires management to assess an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern by incorporating and expanding upon certain principles that are currently
in U.S. auditing standards as specified in the guidance. The guidance becomes effective for the annual period ending
after December 15, 2016 and for annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the effects of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements, but the adoption is
not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update eliminating the concept of extraordinary items.  The
accounting standard update will be effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2016.  The adoption of this
guidance is not expected to have a significant impact upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update changing the analysis that a reporting entity must
perform to determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities.  The accounting standard update
will be effective for the Company in fiscal 2017.  The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a significant
impact upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update simplifying the presentation of debt issuance costs as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability. The accounting standard update will be effective for the
Company in fiscal 2017.  The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact upon the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2015, the FASB issued accounting standard update simplifying the measurement of inventory from the lower
of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable value.  It applies to entities that measure inventory using a method
other than last-in, first-out or the retail inventory method.  The amendment applies to all other inventory, which
includes inventory that is measured using first-in, first out or average cost.  The accounting standard update will be
effective for the Company in fiscal 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard
update on its consolidated financial statements.

The Company has reviewed all other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting pronouncements and does not
believe any such pronouncements will have a material impact on its financial statements.
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Note 22. Valuation Allowances and Qualifying Accounts

Schedule II — Valuation Allowances and Qualifying Accounts
(dollars in thousands)

Classifications

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

Charges
to
Cost and
Expenses

Charges to
Other
Accounts(1)

Deduction
from
Reserves

Balance
at End
of
Year

Year ended July 31, 2013
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts & Returned Goods $ 319 $ 207 $ -- $ 31 $ 495
Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory $ 466 $ 1,368 $ -- $ -- $ 1,834
Year ended July 31, 2014
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts & Returned Goods $ 495 $ 338 $ -- $ 111 $ 722
Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory $ 1,834 $ 383 $ -- $ -- $ 2,217
Year ended July 31, 2015
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts & Returned Goods $ 722 $ 113 $ (75 ) $ 60 $ 700
Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory $ 2,217 $ 454 $ (4 ) $ -- $ 2,667

(1)Represents foreign subsidiary financial statement translation impact charged to other comprehensive income.

Note 23. Subsequent Event

On September 1, 2015, the Company entered into a definitive agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with Valeant
Pharmaceuticals International (“Valeant”) and Blue Subsidiary Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of Valeant (“Merger
Sub”), pursuant to which Valeant will acquire all of the outstanding common stock of the Company at the following
price, each without interest thereon and subject to any applicable tax withholding: (i) $6.50 per share, net to the holder
in cash, plus (ii) one non-transferable contractual contingent value right per share, which represents the right to
receive up to two contingent payments, if any, of up to $1.00 in the aggregate net to the holder in cash upon the
achievement of certain specified milestones within an agreed upon time period (together, the “Offer Price”). Following
the completion of the tender offer, Merger Sub will commence a merger (the “Merger”) in which each untendered share
of the Company will be converted into the right to receive the Offer Price. The transaction, which is expected to close
in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, is subject to the tender of a majority of the Company’s outstanding common stock,
regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

Following the announcement of the execution of the Merger Agreement, four putative stockholder class actions were
filed challenging the proposed transaction. Three of these actions were filed in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of the
State of Missouri and name as defendants all members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company, Valeant
and Merger Sub: (i) Murphy, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00778 (filed September 15, 2015
and amended September 23, 2015), (ii) Glorioso, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00803 (filed
September 23, 2015) and (iii) Scarantino, et al. v. Synergetics USA Inc., et al., C.A. No. 1511-CC00810 (filed
September 28, 2015) (the complaints referenced in (i), (ii) and (iii) collectively the “Missouri Actions”). One of these
actions was filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and names as defendants all members of the
Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger Sub: Nilsen, et al. v. Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, et al.,
C.A. No. 11552-VCL (filed September 28, 2015) (the “Delaware Action” and together with the Missouri Actions, the
“Actions”).

The Actions generally allege that the members of the Company’s Board of Directors breached their fiduciary duties to
the Company’s stockholders by, among other things, conducting a flawed process in considering the transaction,
agreeing to an inadequate Offer Price, providing incomplete and misleading information to stockholders, and
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All of the complaints except the Delaware Action seek, among other things: (i) declaration as a class action; (ii) an
order enjoining defendants from consummating the Offer; (iii) rescission of the proposed transaction or awarding
damages to members of the class in the event the transaction is consummated; and (iv) an award of fees and expenses
of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees. The Delaware Action seeks, among other things: (i)
declaration as a class action; (ii) an order awarding damages to members of the class; and (iii) an award of fees and
expenses of the action, including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees. The Company believes the allegations are
without merit.

On October 2, 2015, the Company, each of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger
Sub entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”) with the plaintiffs in the Actions, which sets forth the
parties’ agreement in principle for a settlement of the Actions on the basis of the additional disclosures made in a
supplement to the Schedule 14D-9 filed by the Company with the SEC on October 2, 2015. As explained in the MOU,
the Company, the members of the Company’s Board of Directors, Valeant and Merger Sub have agreed to the
settlement solely to eliminate the burden, expense and uncertainties inherent in further litigation and without admitting
any liability or wrongdoing. The MOU contemplates that (i) the parties will stipulate to the certification of the
Missouri Actions as a class action, consisting of a mandatory non opt-out class, that includes any and all persons who
held shares of the Company’s common stock (excluding defendants, and their immediate family members, and any
successors in interest thereto) at any time during the period beginning on September 1, 2015, through the date of
consummation or termination of the proposed transaction, and (ii) shall seek to enter into a stipulation of settlement
providing for (a) the release by plaintiffs and any member of the class, whether individual, direct, class, derivative,
representative, legal, equitable, or any other type or in any other capacity, of all claims relating to the allegations in
the Actions, the Offer and the Merger Agreement, and other transactions contemplated therein, or disclosures made in
connection therewith, other than any properly perfected claims for appraisal pursuant to Section 262 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, or claims to enforce the settlement, as set forth in the MOU; (b) dismissal with prejudice of
the Missouri Actions upon final approval of the settlement; and (c) dismissal with prejudice of the Delaware Action
within two business days of the final approval of the settlement. The claims will not be released until such stipulation
of settlement is approved by the Circuit Court of St. Charles County in the State of Missouri. On October 8, 2015, the
Delaware Court dismissed the class action filed in Delaware, and the parties to that action will proceed as part of the
Missouri actions. There can be no assurance that the parties will ultimately enter into a stipulation of settlement or that
the court will approve such settlement even if the parties were to enter into such stipulation. The settlement will not
affect the consideration to be received by the Company’s stockholders in connection with the Offer and the Merger
Agreement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Synergetics USA, Inc.
(registrant)

October 13, 2015
/s/ David M. Hable
David M. Hable, President and Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Pamela G. Boone
October 13, 2015 Pamela G. Boone, Executive Vice President, Chief

Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

October 13, 2015
/s/ David M. Hable
David M. Hable, President and Chief
Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

October 13, 2015
/s/ Pamela G. Boone
Pamela G. Boone, Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)
October 13, 2015
/s/ Robert Blankemeyer 
Robert Blankemeyer, Chairman of the Board of Directors

October 13, 2015 /s/ Lawrence C. Cardinale
Lawrence C. Cardinale, Director

October 13, 2015 /s/ Juanita H. Hinshaw
Juanita H. Hinshaw, Director

October 13, 2015 /s/ D. Graeme Thomas 
D. Graeme Thomas, Director
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USA, Inc. as Borrowers and Regions Bank as Lender, dated November 30, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 3, 2009 and incorporated herein by
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reference.)

10.49

Eighth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement by and among Synergetics, Inc. and Synergetics
USA, Inc. as Borrowers and Regions Bank as Lender, dated November 30, 2010. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.50
Ninth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement by and among Synergetics, Inc. and Synergetics USA,
Inc. as Borrowers and Regions Bank as Lender, dated November 30, 2011. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 2, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.51
Tenth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement by and among Synergetics, Inc. and Synergetics USA,
Inc. as Borrowers and Regions Bank as Lender, dated September 30, 2013. (Filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on October 1, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.52
Third Amended and Restated Revolving Note from Synergetics, Inc. and Synergetics USA, Inc. in favor of
Regions Bank, dated September 30, 2013. (Filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on October 1, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.53
Second Amended and Restated 2008 Equipment Purchase Note from Synergetics, Inc. and Synergetics USA,
Inc. in favor of Regions Bank dated September 30, 2013. (Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on October 1, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.54#
Confidential Settlement and License Agreement between Synergetics USA, Inc. and Alcon, Inc., Alcon
Laboratories, Inc. and Alcon Research Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.55# Supply Agreement between Synergetics, Inc. and Alcon Research Ltd. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.56
Consent to Credit and Security Agreement dated as of December 5, 2014 between Synergetics, Inc. and
Synergetics USA, Inc., as borrowers, and Regions Bank, as lender. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 10, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

21* Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.1* Consent of UHY LLP.

31.1* Certification of the Registrant’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

31.2* Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Of
2002.

32.1* Certification of the Registrant’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

32.2* Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

*Filed herewith.
**Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
***The Company did not enter into a sixth amendment to credit agreement.

#
Portions of these exhibits have been omitted pursuant to requests for confidential treatment filed with the
Commission.  Omitted material for which confidential treatment has been requested has been filed separately with
the Commission.
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